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ABOUT THIS REPORT

MISSION/VISION/ CORE VALUES

1. People Centred: 

We shall treat our colleagues 
and all our partners with dignity, 
fairness and respect, to foster an 
environment where people can 
contribute, innovate and excel;

2. Responsibility: 

We shall be accountable for 
our actions and shall ensure the 
occupational health and safety of all 
employees and other stakeholders 
is safeguarded. We shall share 
our success with communities 
and sustain the environment                  
we operate in;

3. Integrity:  

We shall conduct our business 
honestly, transparently and 
ethically and pledge to be open 
and professional in dealing with 
fraudulent and corrupt behaviour 
within the company and amongst  
all our stakeholders;

4. Customer Value: 

We shall strive to surpass 
customers’ expectations both 
internally and externally through 
efficient customer service. We 
shall therefore be committed to 
enable our customers excel by: 
creating long-term relationships, 
being responsive, relevant, and 
delivering value consistently;

5. Excellence: 

We shall pursue excellence 
through highly efficient and 
effective processes that shall 
deliver products of ethanol and 
services of outstanding quality, 
subsequently rewarding good 
performance to employees 
demonstrating this value.

We are proud to present our third sustainability (integrated) report for the year ending 31 
December 2020. The report integrates financial, governance and risk management information 
to inform our valued stakeholders about our governance, economic, environmental and 
social performance. The report has been prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting 
Initiatives (GRI) Standards: Core Option and it reflects our strategic direction towards building 
a sustainable business through Creating Shared Value (CSV) and other strategies as outlined in 
the company’s 2019 -2023 Strategic Plan.

Reporting Frameworks
This report was prepared in line with the following guiding standards:
• Malawi Companies Act (40:03)
• International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
• Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) Standards

Data and Assurance
Our financial statements were audited by Deloitte in accordance with International Standards of 
Auditing (ISAs), while all our operations were audited by our Corporate Internal Audit Team. 
Additionally, we implement an integrated risk management system which was audited and certified 
by the National Quality Assurance (NQA) Africa in line with ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and ISO 
45001:2018 Standards.

Reinstatements
This report reflects our sustainability performance in the year 2020, but it also contains some data 
and/or information which was published in our prior reports for comparison to monitor trend thereby 
enabling identification of improvement action plans for noted operational challenges. 

VISION
Three-fold increase in turnover by 2023 whilst growing stakeholder value.

MISSION
To be a world class innovative company that employs strategic and 
competitive intelligence to provide premium ethanol and allied        
products using fit for purpose and efficient equipment, processes          
and technology for the benefit of all stakeholders.

 
 CORE VALUES

Our core values are the PRICE we shall be committed to pay in conducting our business.
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History and Location
Ethanol Company Limited (EthCo) is a molasses based ethanol production facility located in 
Dwangwa, a town in the Nkhotakota Lakeshore District of Malawi. The distillery was commissioned 
in 1982 to pioneer the production of fuel ethanol for the Malawian energy sector following the 1977 
energy crisis. To date, the Company has produced well over 0.38 billion litres of ethanol comprising 
fuel ethanol, extra neutral alcohol and rectified spirit. After having undergone a revamp in the late 
2000s, the Company now prides a unique design that allows partial flexibility of production in line 
with market demands. 

Shareholders
EthCo’s shareholding is structured as follows:
• 66.6% -  Press Corporation Limited (PCL) plc
• 25.8%  -  NBM Pensions Administration Limited (previously Inde Trust)
• 7.6%  -  Dwangwa Sugar Corporation (DSC) 

Plant Design
Our distillery has a design capacity of 60,000 litres of alcohol (Extra Neutral Alcohol and Fuel Alcohol) 
per day with an annual production potential of 18 million litres in 300 days. However, in the 2020 
financial year, 12 million litres were produced resulting into a 67% capacity utilization on account 
of continued raw material (feedstock in the form of cane molasses) inadequacy and operational 
challenges. 

COMPANY PROFILE

Forward Looking Statements 
The report may contain forward looking statements. These statements are based on estimates and 
projections by Ethanol Company and current available information. Forward looking statements are 
not statements of historical facts and may contain terms “may”, “will”, “should”, “continue”, “aims”, 
“estimates”, “projects”, “believes”, “intends”, “expects”, “plans”, “seeks” or “anticipates”, or words of 
similar meaning. Future statements are not guarantees of future developments and results outlined 
therein. These are dependent on a number of factors; they involve various risks and uncertainties; and 
there are based on assumptions that are beyond Ethanol Company’s control. Readers are cautioned 
not to put undue reliance on forward looking statements.  

Report Declaration
This report has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards: Core Option. We believe 
that all considerations were taken to ensure the report complies with provisions of the selected 
disclosure option. Our reporting cycle is annual and the reports will be published in the second 
quarter of the succeeding year.

External Assurance
The company believes external assurance is vital to assure our stakeholders of the reliability and 
validity of information and data in our report.  However, this report was not externally assured but the 
reporting process was guided by external experts for compliance with GRI Standards. Additionally, 
our Management has high integrity and lives the Core Values (PRICE) of the company in its business 
dealings and we therefore assure our stakeholders of reliability and validity of the information and 
data provided in this report.  

Feedback on the Report
We value feedback and opinions from all our valued stakeholders to assist us improve our next annual 
report. We welcome your feedback on this report and any suggestions the readers may have. Please 
provide your feedback to: Chief Executive Officer on:  lchakaniza@ethanolmw.com  

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Distillery

Distillery
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COMPANY PROFILE (Cont’d)

Business Model
As reported in our prior reports, our customer base is still primarily business to business (B2B), with 
customers across a wide range of retail and industrial sectors including the energy sector, food and 
beverage manufacturers, chemical and pharmaceutical industries. 

The bulk of the Extra Neutral Alcohol (ENA) that is produced serves the domestic market, with a 
small portion being exported to neighboring countries. Our fuel ethanol (AA) is sold to Oil Marketing 
Companies in Malawi, who by Government’s mandate must blend with imported petrol at a 20% 
(ethanol):80% (petrol). As a matter of plant design necessity, the distillery also produces small 
volumes of rectified spirit which serves the paints, paper and plastics industry.

In line with our diversification strategy and in response to the global COVID-19 pandemic, the 
company introduced hand sanitizer and surface disinfectant amongst its product range during the 
2020 Financial Year. Branded as SafeHandsTM and SafeSurface respectively, these new products are 
largely sold to corporate clients as well as on the retail market. 

Membership to Business Associations
We have continued our participation in voicing out and lobbying for collaborative solutions to 
serve the needs of the manufacturing sector in Malawi by maintaining our membership in various 
associations, with the prominent ones being: 
• Malawi Confederation of Chambers of Commerce and Industry (MCCCI);
• Economic Association of Malawi (ECAMA) and
• Employers Consultative Association of Malawi (ECAM) 

   The key performance highlights

COMPANY PROFILE (Cont’d)

Our New Look and Motivation for the Future
One of our major events and milestones in 2020 was the launch of our new logo and tagline. 
Minimalistic in nature, the new logo stands out and communicates better without clutter. The main 
color represents calmness, confidence, dignity, loyalty, power and success and demonstrates that 
we are secure, established and trustworthy. We have maintained a text based logo in a bold and 
clear typography in order to keep the original feel and continue to be known as EthCo as it relates 
well to the company’s mission and belief.” 

To push our ambitious strategy forward, we believe that a way of thinking that encourages positive 
attitude by everyone is a must. Our new tagline, “That’s The Spirit” is hence a catch phrase that 
everyone can relate with and develop a sense to forge forward and follow whatever it is that fires 
us up to keep trying and pushing for anything we want to achieve in life. Specific to us, the tagline 
also refers to our own product thereby pushing us to maintain its high quality at all times. 

Key Performance Highlights 
Despite the challenges that were faced in the business environment due to the global COVID-19 
pandemic, the Company realized good performance overall. This was due to an undisrupted 
market environment in the ethanol industry as well as our continued efforts in implementing our 
business strategy. The demand for both fuel ethanol and extra neutral alcohol continued to grow, 
giving confidence of a sustained growth of the ethanol business. 

Launch of New LogoRevenue 
Growth 

Gross 
Margin 

ROCE

Operating 
PBIT 

COVID-19 
Response 25%

42% 33%

155% K11
million
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STRATEGY & LEADERSHIP

Sustainability Approach
Our sustainability approach continues to focus on ensuring that environmental and social issues 
are embedded in how we create value for stakeholders through effective implementation of good 
governance and sustainability standards. 

Our strategy to 2023 is geared at achieving our mission to be ‘a world class innovative company 
that employs strategic and competitive intelligence to provide premium ethanol and allied 
products using fit for purpose and efficient equipment, processes and technology for the benefit 
of all stakeholders’. 

We take pride in the uniqueness of our business and the way we have introduced our own tailor 
made innovative solutions to push the agenda to fulfil this mission. 

In line with GRI standards, we have maintained and discussed 11 applicable material topics in the 
subsequent pages viz Compliance and risk management, Materiality, People, Economic performance, 
Anti-Corruption, Occupational Safety and Health, Materials, Energy, Water, Training and Education 
and Customer health and safety.

We are continuously evolving and ever committed to improve our knowledge and data collection 
processes in order to improve our report and also to establish a rich and useful sustainability report. 

CHAIRMAN AND CEO’s STATEMENT

While the emergence of the Covid-19 
pandemic brought with it some 
financial, strategic and operational 
risks and uncertainties in the business, 
the Company capitalised on an 
increased demand of its headline 
product, extra neutral alcohol due to 
lockdown restrictions that prevented 
its importation into the country. Further 
to this, the Company stepped in to 
respond to the societal need for covid-19 
prevention by introducing hand sanitiser 
and surface disinfectant amongst its 
product range.  Consequently, the 
Company spring boarded from the 
previous year’s success resulting in 
a bullish performance evidenced by 
double digit growth on all major KPIs. A 

25% growth in turnover (MK10.168 billion in 2020 vs MK8.134 billion in 2019) a 15% reduction in cost 
of sales against plan, and a 20% reduction in operating expenses resulted into a 155% growth in 
Operating Profit to MK2.5 billion in FY2020 from MK980 million in 2019. 

The implementation of a new brand awareness strategy resulted into the introduction of a new 
logo and a That’s the SpiritTM tagline during the first half of the year. The company also continued 
to consolidate the gains from the Business Process Reengineering and Continuous Improvement 
initiatives that were introduced in 2019 under the Value Improvement and Innovation Programme 
(VIIP) which generated an average of three implemented front-line ideas per employee in 2020. 
The versatility of the VIIP, which is essentially an idea system, saw the business introducing a hand 
sanitiser within two weeks of conception and later on surface disinfectant and packaged methylated 
spirit business lines. This was besides making significant value adding strides in the areas of cost 
management, productivity enhancement and employee empowerment. 

Strategic Direction
Strategically, growth will be driven by agility and continued focus on innovation which has unearthed, 
encouraged and harnessed implementation of front line ideas using Lean Manufacturing and Six 
Sigma techniques and by benchmarking performance against world class companies in the industry. 
Furthermore, the Company’s will continue implementing upstream, midstream and downstream 
manufacturing projects to ensure future growth and sustainability.

A 25% growth in turnover (MK10.168 billion in 2020 vs MK8.134 billion in 
2019) a 15% reduction in cost of sales against plan, and a 20% reduction in 
operating expenses resulted into a 155% growth in Operating Profit 
to MK2.5 billion in FY2020 from MK980 million in 2019. 

Lusubilo Chakaniza
Chief Executive Officer 

Elizabeth Mafeni
Board Chairman 

STRATEGY & LEADERSHIP /  Chairman and CEO's Statement (Cont’d)
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Outlook for 2021
Despite foreseen challenges in accessing forex, spares and process chemicals due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, as well as a strained cash flow on account of the projects under implementation, EthCo 
plans to match the FY2020 performance in 2021. Employee empowerment and training will continue 
to be some of the major pillars in managing costs and improving productivity. While creating shared 
value, EthCo will maintain its competitive edge by concentrating its efforts on the identified key 
focus areas that are aligned to the Company’s strategy thereby contributing to the UN Agenda on 
Sustainable Development. The Company will publicise its sustainability efforts through this annual 
report that will be available on its website.

Conclusion
We wish to sincerely thank the Board of the Company for the continued guidance, leadership and 
oversight role on the business. Without the resourceful and constructive support of the leadership at 
Board level, it wouldn’t have been possible to achieve the business objectives for the year. 

To all employees at EthCo, your continued determination, innovativeness, team spirit and hard work 
amidst the Covid-19 crisis and the stresses that were associated with it did not go unnoticed.  That’s 
the spirit that we need to keep this business sustainable in such challenging environments. 

To our customers and other stakeholders in the community and beyond, you have continued to 
trust us and understood our challenges as we created shared value for our mutual benefit. We look 
forward to your continued support and constructive feedback as we grow together.    

Lusubilo Chakaniza           Elizabeth Mafeni
Chief Executive Officer     Board Chairman

ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED (EthCo) Annual Integrated Report 2020  | 13
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ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED (EthCo) Annual Integrated Report 2020  | 15

Corporate Governance
Our corporate governance practices are guided by the Articles of Association and we endeavor to 
adhere to and implement best practices of corporate governance in our business conduct. 

Board Nomination and Composition
The highest governance body is the Board of Directors consisting of one (1) Executive Director and 
seven (7) non-Executive Directors; four (4) of which are nominated by Press Corporation Limited 
(PCL), two (2) by National Bank of Malawi Pensions Administration Limited and one (1) by Dwangwa 
Sugar Corporation (DSC).  In terms of gender, two (2) of the Directors are female. The Board of 
Directors is chaired by a Non-Executive Director and the composition of the board has the requisite 
diversity of skills in line with the Company’s strategy. Within the selection process, the Appointments 
and Remuneration Committee has the role of reviewing the nominations and recommending for final 
approval by the Board.  

In the course of the year, the Board Chairman Mr. John Biziwick resigned from the Board and Mrs. E. 
Mafeni was elected Board Chairman.

Directors’ Conflicts of interest
All Directors are expected to declare any interests deemed to be in conflict with their appointment 
and objectives of the business. As such, declaration of interest is made as and when there are any 
developments which may conflict with their appointment. Any related party transactions are treated 
at arm’s length. During Board meetings, all Directors declare their interests on any of the agenda 
items that are tabled.

Board Responsibilities
The Board of Directors is involved throughout the entire process of strategy development, revision 
and approval of the purpose, value and mission statements. It is the Chief Executive Officer’s role to 
ensure that new strategies and policies are implemented throughout the organization. This includes 
the company’s sustainability strategy with support from the Board.

Board Self Evaluation 
Evaluation of the Board’s effectiveness currently takes place on an annual basis. Each member of the 
board conducts a self-evaluation and the results are analyzed and discussed during the last Board 
meeting of a financial year before the Annual General Meeting. Included in the evaluation is a general 
assessment of the Directors’ performance and their development needs.

Directors’ Board Meetings Attendance
Board meetings are conducted quarterly and the table below is an attendance record for meetings 
that were conducted in the 2020 financial year.

Board Member  Membership                            Meetings
     Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4
John Biziwick (Board Chairman)  Non Executive                      Resigned
Elizabeth Mafeni Non Executive 	 	 	 
Benson W Jere Non Executive 	 	 	 
Lucius Mandala Non Executive 	 	 	 
Gabriel Kambale Non Executive 	 	 	 
Lekani Katandula Non Executive                      Resigned
Jeromy Ngolombe Non Executive NA NA 	 
William Mabulekesi Non Executive 	 	 	 
Lusubilo Chakaniza Executive   	 	 	 

GOVERNANCE GOVERNANCE (Cont’d)

Remuneration policies
Our Remuneration Policy is applied consistently for the remuneration of Directors, Management and 
staff. The Board, through the Appointment and Remuneration Committee determines remuneration 
of Executives, while Executives determine remuneration of other members of staff.

Risk Policy
We still believe that the right employees are our most important asset and that all other stakeholders 
are important players in our business. We therefore continue our commitment to provide leadership 
and resources for a sustainable work and business environment to ensure stakeholders’ satisfaction, 
business continuity and safe products for the safety of consumers. This is achieved through our 
commitment to the following key principles:

• Protecting the environment through pollution prevention, sustainable use of resources, 
protection of biodiversity and ecosystem, and climate change mitigation and adaptation; 

• Implementing an Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) management system in all our 
operations to eliminate hazards and reduce OSH risks; 

• Providing leadership and resources for implementation and continual improvement of the ERM 
system to effectively manage both the upside risks (opportunities) and downside risks (threats) 
in line with the our 2019 - 2023 Strategic Plan;

• Ensuring that our operations, processes, products and services provided comply with customer 
and consumer safety requirements, company requirements, applicable legal and other 
requirements including ISO 9001:2015 (Quality), ISO 14001:2015 (Environment), ISO 45001:2018 
(Occupational Safety and Health),  ISO 31000:2018 (Risk Management), ISO 22301:2012 
(Business Continuity), ISO 26000:2010 (Social Responsibility), GRI Standards and Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs);

• Ensuring that we have the right people in the right places and that they are skilled, competent, 
experienced and trained to effectively perform their tasks and roles; 

• Enhancing effective communication, consultation and participation of employees through a 
robust idea management system and meetings, and that all external stakeholders are properly 
and effectively engaged;

• Clearly defining, reviewing and communicating our goals, objectives and targets and ensuring 
that our business practices are geared towards achieving them, while celebrating performance 
in line with our performance management policies;

• Integrating new systems and processes into the existing management system in order to use 
resources effectively and efficiently; 

• Reviewing this policy, the company’s strategy and associated documents annually and when 
the need arises to ensure their adequacy, accuracy, effectiveness and alignment with the 
prevailing business environment;

• Promoting mutual coexistence and solidarity with our stakeholders in the wider Dwangwa 
Estate and all areas in which we operate.

Compliance Management
Our appetite for reputational and compliance risks remains zero as indicated in previous reports 
in line with our Risk Appetite Framework. In liaison with Heads of Departments, our Risk function is 
responsible for overall risk management which includes risk assessment, risk profiling and reporting.

In the year under review, we continued to provide resources for continued implementation and 
improvement of our risk management system. As such, we remained fully compliant to relevant 
legislation and contractual obligations, hence no penalties or notices of violations from authorities, 
suppliers and service providers were recorded. We however received a complaint from the 
community related to an effluent overflow incident due to the flooding disaster that happened in 
the area early in the year. The matter is being handled in line with the relevant regulations and 
procedures. In a related development, we are implementing an effluent treatment project in which 
our distillery effluent will be beneficiated to produce organic fertilizer.  

|  Annual Integrated Report 2020 ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED (EthCo) 14
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SUSTAINABILITY (Cont’d)

Sustainability Strategy
Sustainability remains our key strategic pillar in order to maintain sustainable operations in our 
business and practices. Experience from our past reports has enabled us to fully understand 
sustainability principles, hence fully integrating them into our business strategies and programs 
through amongst others Creating Shared Value (CSV) with the aim of stakeholder empowerment 
and setting a clear vision as well as short to long term strategies for our company. Our CSV focus still 
lies within the following key socio-economic areas;

The sustainability strategy continues to rest upon maintaining and adhering to various international 
standards indicated in our risk policy and we also place great emphasis on compliance with stringent 
local legislation, standards and industry best practices.

In the 2020 financial year, we continued implementation and improvement of our Value Improvement 
and Innovation Program (VIIP) which aims at allowing employees to share their ideas openly to 
improve processes, productivity and efficiency. Even though departmental idea meetings could not 
be effectively conducted due to COVID-19 pandemic prevention measures, it was still possible to 
achieve the targeted number of ideas for the year.      
                                               
A total of 217 ideas were implemented against a target of 174 ideas, representing 3.7 ideas per 
employee compared to prior year in which 99 ideas were implemented. The nature of ideas that 
were implemented included process and operational efficiency improvements, revenue generation, 
cost saving, team building and safety and health enhancements.

SUSTAINABILITY

Environment Safety and 
Health

Training and 
Development

Rural 
development  

Sustainability Governance
Executive Management has been delegated the responsibility to govern economic, environmental 
and social related matters on behalf of the Board. The Risk Officer who liaises with Heads of 
Departments and reports to the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for reporting and coordination 
of implementation of the sustainability strategy, while the Value Improvement and Innovation Officer 
is responsible for the Idea Management system implementation. A quarterly risk report which includes 
sustainability performance is presented to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee before being 
presented to the Board. The Board periodically defines the company’s risk appetite as required. 

Stakeholder Engagement 
We continue working towards improving our understanding of the business environment by creating 
an ongoing learning culture from the networks that we have established with various stakeholders. 
The insights provided by these stakeholders help us to align our strategy with their expectations 
and interests accordingly.

In 2020, the results of our internal and external stakeholder engagement and analysis, provided rich 
information in our business conduct and improvement of our 2019 - 2023 strategy. 

Stakeholder Engagement Process
We identify our stakeholders by mapping out existing relationships within our business environment 
and value chain. The selected stakeholders are all entities that we interact with in our operations. 
Besides our existing relations, we also continuously scan for other stakeholder groups within our 
region that could in any way be impacted by our business.

Materiality and Reporting Practice
The prioritization of sustainability topics was on the basis of impacts of the company on each 
sustainability challenge and level of influence on stakeholders and they were mapped out using a 
materiality matrix. The emergence of COVID-19 pandemic in the year increased our focus on community 
support through our CSV programs. Additionally, the process of identifying our sustainability topics 
included a mapping of the sustainability context in which we operate. The sustainability context is 
enriched by broadening the scope for certain topics, including the indirect sustainability impact from our 
main suppliers. Despite being an independent entity, our production process is interwoven with those of 
key raw material suppliers and we therefore report on this as well.

Socieconomic Compliance

Supplier Social Assessment

Child Labour

Materials

Anti-corruption

Market Presence
Anti-competitive Behavious

Local Communities
Emissions

Public Policy
Security Practices

Marketing 
and Labelling

Rights of
Indigenous People

Human Rights
Assessment

Supplier Environmental
Assessment

Diversity and Equal
Opportunity Labour/Management

Relations

Training and
Education

Occupational 
Health and Safety

Environmental
Compliance

Effluents
and Waste

Economic
Performance

Customer Health and Safety

Energy

Employment

Indirect Economic Impact

Non-discrimination

Biodiversity

Procurement Practices

Significance on economic, social and environmental impacts

Si
g

ni
fic

an
ce

 t
o 

st
ak

eh
ol

d
er

s

Forced or
Compulsory Labour

Freedom of Association
and Collective
Bargaining

Department  No. of Target Ideas Ideas Achieved

HR and Administration 30 25 

Finance   27 47

Sales, Risk, ICT and Outgrower 24 38 

Engineering  36 52

Executive Management 9 17

Total No. of Ideas 174 217

No. of Employees 58 58

Ideas per Employee 3.0 3.7
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Materiality Process Outcomes
As discussed above, topics were evaluated on their significance to both internal and external 
stakeholders’ perceived economic, social and environmental impacts of the organization. The 
materiality process was conducted at various stages spanning from concerns of key stakeholders, 
Heads of Departments and finally the Executive Management team.

There are no new concerns in our operations and business environment, hence our material topics 
presented in the yellow zone in the figure are therefore the same as reported in our last reports. We 
will continue monitoring the environment as well as engaging stakeholders to assess changes in the 
materiality of factors affecting the business.

Reporting Practice
Our endeavor to be a trusted leader in the ethanol production sector continues by among other 
things building on the business’ core values and principles to maintain trust in our brand and reduce 
risk throughout our operations. We also continue to systematically explore, identify, manage, monitor 
and report sustainability opportunities and business risks using our fully fledged risk management 
and idea management systems. The process of identifying sustainability topics is as discussed 
above. Furthermore, we also identify and monitor specific sustainability trends in the industry and 
developments within the local business environment for reporting. 

This Integrated Report is prepared for a period of 12 months beginning 1st January to 31st December 
consistent with the company’s financial year. However, the report is published by July in order to 
give room for finalization of financial audits whose report forms part of this report as indicated in the 
financial statement section below. 

Key impacts, risks and opportunities

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)
As we continue with our business, the manufacturing operations by nature remain inherently risky 
and we continue with our efforts to mitigate the impacts of risks and hazards therefrom in order to 
ensure a sustainable business. We therefore continue our commitment and dedication to sustain 
our certified integrated risk management system which is based on requirements of ISO 45001:2018 
(Safety and Health Management), ISO 9001:2015 (Quality Management) and ISO 14001:2015 
(Environment Management). From last year, we embarked on a project to migrate our safety and 
health management system from BS OHSAS 18001:2007 to ISO 45001:2018 and full migration and 
certification was achieved in August this year by NQA Africa. We will continue to provide resources, 
leadership and commitment towards effective implementation and continual improvement of this 
management system so as to continue benefitting and serving our stakeholders better. 

We also continue ensure that any opportunities in our operations are fully exploited to enable 
continuity of our business. As a result, the number and magnitude of incidents has continued its 
downward trend over the years as evidenced by a 28% reduction in number of incidents, thereby 
reducing lost time and allowing our staff to dedicate themselves to their work, hence improving 
their productivity. Apart from enabling our compliance to local OSH regulations and improving our 
efficiency, our certified system enables us to save costs which would have otherwise been incurred 
in compensations, medical costs and lost time. We are also proud to have international standards 
in our business and to be on the international map with the ISO certification, which in turn increases 
confidence in our stakeholders. Further information on occupational health and safety is given under 
the chapter ‘Social Performance’.

Anti-corruption
Integrity remains one of our core values, as such we continue to conduct our business in an open 
and honest manner in line with laid down procedures as well as industry best practices. Thus, we 
continued implementing and improving our policies and strategies aimed at preventing, detecting 
and dealing with corruption and fraud in all our operations. These strategies included awareness 
to staff and suppliers and audits to check effectiveness of our internal controls. We also maintained 
our membership to a Deloitte’s a Tips-Off Anonymous facility in Malawi which enhances reporting of 
corrupt practices and fraud by employees. In the year under review, there were no corruption and 
fraud cases either reported to Deloitte or recorded in our internal system.

Supply chain
As reported in our past reports, supply chain management is one of our key strategies as it ensures 
efficient operations, thereby enabling consistent production and supply of products that meet 
stakeholders’ requirements such as customers and regulators. We therefore continued managing 
relationships and collaboration with our suppliers to ensure a healthy and sustainable supply chain 
which continues to build reputation and trust. 

Molasses remains our main feedstock in our ethanol production business. For this reason, our 
distillery is strategically situated close to Illovo Sugar Malawi’s Dwangwa Factory which is a major 
supplier of our feedstock (molasses) requirements.  The Sugar Mill also supplies steam and water to 

SUSTAINABILITY (Cont’d)SUSTAINABILITY (Cont’d)
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our distillery. We also have additional suppliers (local and foreign) who provide various inputs, spares 
and specific services such as audits, security and technical support. 

Effluent (technically known as Vinasse) from the distillery is still disposed into evaporation ponds 
located about 8 km from the distillery, while the rest of waste water is channeled into Illovo’s 
drainage and treatment system before using it for irrigating sugarcane fields. In the current year, 
we continued facing challenges with disposal of this effluent especially during rainy season. Thus, 
we had an effluent overflow incident due to flooding which was declared a national disaster and 
our area was affected. As a long term environmental management plant for our distillery, we are 
implementing an Effluent Treatment Plant project which will be producing organic fertilizer, steam 
and electricity. The project was expected to be completed and commissioned by the end of the 
FY2020, but the timeline could not be met due to the COVID-19 pandemic which affected delivery 
of materials from our supplier in India. Commissioning is now expected to be done at the end of 
FY2021. 

Responsible Production
We continue our commitment to produce products that meet regulatory requirements set out in 
the Malawi Standards (MS 573) while ensuring that the Extra Neutral Alcohol (ENA) also meets EU 
Standards in order for the business to compete on the international market. For the year 2020, we 
did not have quality related complaints from our customers. We will continue these efforts in order 
to maintain the quality standards that we have so far achieved. 

 

Impacts, Risks and Management
Molasses is a thick slippery liquid and is high in sugar, as it is hazardous to the environment in case of 
spillage during transportation in large quantities as well as leakages from storage tanks and transfer 
pipes. To manage this risk, we signed contracts with selected trusted transporters in the haulage 
industry and the contract includes clauses on risk management. In 2020 however, one incident was 
recorded and it involved a molasses tanker which swerved in trying to avoid an oncoming vehicle 
resulting into the tanker overturning in Nkhotakota. There were no fatalities for this incident, but the 
tanker was damaged resulting into loss of molasses. The spilled molasses was scooped and landfilled 
to prevent pollution. We continue to enforce safety rules among all our molasses transporters.

Chemicals
Chemicals remain one of our critical inputs in our fermentation and water treatment processes. A of 
variety of chemicals is used and sourced from both local and foreign suppliers. Procurement of the 
chemicals is primarily done once a year at the beginning of each season and they are managed by 
the receiving and storage and quality control departments. 

Impacts, Risks and Management
As reported in our previous reports, usage of chemicals inherently exposes our employees to 
safety and health hazards and the environment. To manage these hazards and risks, we continued 
implementation of various control measures such as proper storage, handling and disposal, 

SUSTAINABILITY (Cont’d)

Environmental Performance
Our facilities are utilized in a manner which allows efficient use and management of resources. 
Our procurement system for materials and services is done in line with robust procurement 
procedures set out in our Procurement Policy. We hereby detail and discuss our critical 
materials that have an impact on the environment;

Molasses
Molasses, a by-product from sugar manufacturing is the main ingredient in our ethanol 
production process. It is supplied by multiple suppliers which include Illovo (Dwangwa) 
Sugar Mill, which is our major supplier, Salima Sugar Company and some molasses is imported 
from Zambia. Molasses is a renewable resource and which is good for sustainability of the 
business.  One of our major challenges has been availability of the molasses as the supply 
does not meet the demand of our distillery. We have therefore embarked on an Out-Grower 
development project in the area of Traditional Authority (TA) Mphonde in Nkhotakota. Once 
implemented, the project will enable us to produce sugar syrup as additional feedstock 
which will increase our production time from the current 270 days to about 330 days per 
year.  Additionally, the project will also improve livelihood of smallholder sugarcane farmers 
in the communities where the project will be implemented thereby creating shared value.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE



ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED (EthCo) Annual Integrated Report 2020  | 23

awareness of employees using specific Material Safety Data Sheets and timely management of leaks 
and spillages. There were no chemical leaks and spillages reported or recorded.

Raw materials for Hand Sanitiser, Surface Disinfectant and Methylated Spirit
The emergence of COVID-19 pandemic enabled us to diversify our products by venturing into 
production of Hand Sanitiser, Surface Disinfectant and Methylated Spirit in order to support 
government and communities in the fight against the spread of the pandemic in the country. Raw 
materials for these products include HDPE bottles, PET bottles, cartons, labels and ingredients such 
as essentials oils and colourants.

Impacts, Risks and Management
Like any other plastic bottles, these plastic packaging materials are hazardous to the environment and 
to mitigate against their environmental impact, we decided to be using more of the HDP containers 
as they are strong and can be reused several times either in our operations or by other people of 
the market. We also provide detailed handling of the products to ensure safety and appropriate 
disposal. 

Goals and targets for materials
Our goals and targets on materials are aligned with our budget planning for each production year. 
One of the critical targets is on molasses usage efficiency and in 2020, the target of ethanol recovery 
per ton of molasses was 255 litres of ethanol while the actual recovery was 244 litres (254 litres: 2019) 
of ethanol per ton of molasses. The lower than target achievement was due to various operational 
challenges spanning from molasses quality issues to equipment breakdowns and utility supply 
challenges which we are working on in order to get back on track and meet our targets in the 2021 
financial year.

Packaging and Distribution
Our core business is production and supply of three brands of ethanol which are a raw material used 
by a variety of actors further down the value chain for the manufacturing of various products as well 
as a blend of petrol in the energy sector. In this area, our business model is B2B, hence our products 
are sold in bulk volumes in tankers that are provided by our contracted transporters or our customers 
and in plastic drums provided by customers. As reported above, we diversified our product portfolio 
by venturing into Hand Sanitiser, Surface Disinfectant and Methylated Spirit business lines. This 
segment has its own business model targeting consumers on the retail market. The products are 
packaged in 5 litres, 20 litres and 200 litres containers. Distribution of these products is through our 
distributors located in the main cities, however some customer are serviced from our factory. 

In order to manage risks related with our products, we provide specific instructions and awareness 
to our customers, distributors, transporters and consumers on safety, usage and handling regulations 
and requirements. Additionally, fuel ethanol is sold to Oil Marketing Companies only and we issue 
Certificates of Analyses which strictly prohibit consumption. 

Reclamation of materials
The use of bulk tankers, which are largely made from stainless steel means that our mode of 
transportation promotes material reclamation. The HDPE plastic drums that are used are made of a 
robust material and are reused continuously thereby reducing the effects of environmental pollution 
caused by frequent disposal of packaging materials.  The use of HDPE bottles for packaging sanitiser, 
disinfectant and methylated spirit is in the same spirit, however we are currently not reclaiming the 
containers. Going forward, we are looking at how we can design our distribution system to enable 
us to reclaim empty HDPE bottles from our customers. 
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Hand Sanitiser and Surface Disinfectant

Product Distribution Tanker
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Discharge of water
Our effluent or waste water discharge is in line with local regulations as well as applicable best 
industry practices as guided by our risk management policy. As such, the effluent is discharged in a 
way that all non-product contact effluent goes into storm water drains which flow into containment 
and biodegradation treatment before it is used for irrigation by a third party. On the other hand, 
effluent from the fermentation and distillation process (technically known as vinasse) is discharged 
into licensed evaporation ponds for containment and drying through natural evaporation. The dried 
sludge is used as fertilizer by local farmers in the surrounding communities.

Water
We have two sources of water; our own boreholes which were commissioned in the year and supply 
from the lake by Dwangwa Sugar Corporation.  Recognizing that our production processes require 
a lot of water for fermentation, distillation, cooling and other sanitary requirements, our strategy on 
water management and stewardship includes water reuse and waste water recycle throughout our 
processes. This year was very remarkable because for the first time in our history, we implemented a 
cooling water recycling and re-use project in our fermentation process which significantly reduced 
volumes of wastewater disposed by about 60%.

Impacts, risks and management
Previously, water supply was one of our high operational and financial risks due to our high water 
demand the resultant costs of water. In order to manage this risk, we drilled three boreholes in our 
factory which were commissioned in the year thereby reducing water costs by 39%. However, the 
borehole water brought with it some iron content issues which had a negative impact on the plant 
appearance and cooling system and a water polishing system will be installed in 2021 to eliminate 
the problem. There are currently no risks regarding shortages of water or water stress. 

Water withdrawal
There are no changes in water regulations in Malawi, as such, water abstraction rights on both 
surface water as well as underground water are regulated and provided by the Malawi Government 
through the National Water Resources Authority. All companies along the Lake Malawi shore rely on 
the lake as their main fresh water resource. The lake also provides domestic water as well as fishing 
ground to communities for their social economic activities. 

As mentioned under the supply chain section above, Illovo’s Dwangwa Sugar Factory pumps the 
water from Lake Malawi and supplies to us to complement the volume of water which we get from 
our boreholes. Additionally, staff residential areas are situated about 6 km from the factory and we 
abstract water for use in these residential areas from Dwangwa River.  The water is currently provided 
to employees’ households as a benefit. 

In 2020, water usage was at 14 litres of water per litre of ethanol produced compared to 23 L/L for 
prior year. The good performance is mainly due to water management initiatives such as recycling, 
re-use and water loss prevention and minimisation through leaks identification and maintenance. The 
boreholes supplied 79,434 m³, representing 48% of factory water demand for the year. 

For residential areas, we are currently planning to implement a project aimed at encouraging efficient 
water use at household level by installing water meters in all household. This project expected to 
be completed in 2021. We hereby present our data on water usage in both factory operations and 
staff residential areas. 

The risks associated with vinasse is that it is produced in very high volumes and in 2020, we achieved 
an effluent (to evaporation) to ethanol ratio of 13 L/L as indicated in the table. This is HIGHER than prior 
year but within the industry standards. More importantly, discharge of non-product contact effluent 
reduced significantly to 17,247 m³ due to water recycling initiatives which we are implementing. The 

Source   Unit 2020 2019 2018 2017

Surface Water for Residential use M3 35,834 39,177 40,416 38,070

Third Party for Factory use M3 87,490 282,799 289,733 269,273
Borehore for Factory use M3 79,434 - - -
Total Value for Factory M3 166,924 282,799 289,733 269,273

Ethanol Produced KL 11,888 12,178 10,276 8,505

Water Usage Ratio for Factory L/L 14 23 28 32

Method of Discharge Unit 2020 2019 2018 2017

Third Party for Factory use M3 17,247 135,299 135,839 151,884
Own Evaporation Ponds M3 149,251 147,111 126,629 117,132
Total Effluent/Waste Water M3 166,498 282,410 262,468 269,016

Ethanol Produced KL 11,888 12,178 10,276 8,505

Effluent (to Ponds) to Ethanol Ratio L/L 13 12 12 14

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d) ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d)

Effluent Treatment Plant Construction Site
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Power usage in the factory
In Malawi, electricity supply is subject to national regulations enforced by the Malawi Energy 
Regulatory Authority (MERA) and we did not have any issues related to compliance with these 
regulations. Electricity requirements for both the factory and staff residential areas are supplied 
by Electricity Supply Commission of Malawi (ESCOM). This year, the supply from the grid has been 
stable with minor interruptions resulting into supplying 96% of our requirements. This therefore 
resulted into reduced running hours of our standby generators which supplied the remaining 4%, 
hence low diesel usage and associated costs. We achieved an electricity usage ratio of 0.28 kwh/
litre of ethanol compared to 0.27kwh/litre of ethanol for prior year against a target of 0.3 kwh/litre 
of ethanol. Refer to table below on power usage trends.

Power usage in staff residential areas
Electricity supplied to staff residential areas comes from the national grid and the usage is monitored 
through a single meter, and is billed using an industrial tariff billing system. For 2020, the average 
usage per household was higher than prior year by 2,094 Kwh. Apart from the fact that we had a 
more stable power supply in the year, the use of a single meter may not be an effective way of 
managing power usage at household level.  

Electricity costs for employees are still covered by the company as part of the work contract with 
unlimited usage. In order to improve household power management, a household metering project 
will be implemented in 2021 to enable a shift from industrial tariff billing to a domestic tariff system. 
This development will be coupled with clean waging of the electricity benefit, in line with the 
Company’s quest to place responsibility of managing resources at individual household level. It is 
believed that this project will benefit both employees and the company as institutional tariffs are 
higher than individual household tariffs. 

In order to continue achieving better efficiencies, we ensure that energy losses are prevented or 
controlled if they occur through reporting and maintenance. Other initiatives include sensitisation 
of employees on various energy saving strategies such as switching off lights and equipment when 
not in use. We have also implemented a policy to use energy saver and LED bulbs in the factory and 
staff houses.

Steam for factory use
Part of our steam requirements is supplied by a third party (Illovo’s Sugar Mill) who use renewable 
fuel (bagasse - biomass from crushing sugarcane) to generate the steam. As a business continuity 
strategy, we have our own two coal-fired boilers to supplement the third party’s supply and to 
cover for the off sugar season periods. In 2020, 81% (plan 25%) of the steam requirements had to be 
supplied from the coal fired-boilers because the third party did not have extra capacity to supply 
EthCo.  With this development, the FY2021 maintenance budget has a significant portion for boiler 
maintenance, in view of the numerous operational challenges that were faced in FY2020 and a delay 
in completion of our new cogeneration boiler project. 

Electricity Usage Unit 2020 2019 2018 2017

Total Employees Households Count 53 86 86 86
Electricity Usage KWh 431,328 519,754 876,459 517,427

Electricity Usage Per Household KWh 8,138 6,044 10,191 6,017

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d) ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d)

In the year under review, the absolute steam usage was higher due to increased production volumes, 
although slightly lower than prior year. We achieved an ethanol recovery per ton of steam used of 
285 litres/ton, 3 units better than the target of 282 litres/ ton of steam due to a product mix that 
skewed towards products with less steam requirements.  

Our growth strategy is based on increasing volumes and diversification. In this regard, the 
Company’s steam requirements will be higher than what is currently obtainable. We are hence in 
the process of investing in a cogeneration boiler that will produce both steam and power with a 
fuel supply combination of biogas produced from our effluent and duff coal. The project is currently 
under implementation and it is expected to be commissioned by the end of 2021. The coal ash from 
the boilers will be beneficiated by using it as an ingredient to building blocks, thereby reducing the 
usage of burnt bricks that result into forest degradation.  

In terms of electricity, the bulk of our supply is from the National Grid whose source is hydro power. 
In 2020, we were able to use 95% of this power supply.

Energy Source Unit 2020 2019 2018 2017

Coal Fired Boilers % 81 23 55 22
Bagasse Fired Boilers (Renewable) % 19 77 45 78
Steam Recovery L/Ton 285 298 302 311

National Grid (Electricity) % 95 96 81 82
Standby Generators % 5 4 19 18

Coal Fired Boilers
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Our People
We continue our business philosophy that our employees are our greatest capital underpinning the 
success of what we are today and in future. As such, our policies are designed in a way that ensures 
proper matching of skills with the Company’s labor requirements at all times, welfare support and 
continual personal development in order to keep employees motivated and thereby maximising 
employee productivity. Our employees continue to be instrumental in identifying risks, opportunities 
and innovations thereby enabling implementation and achievement of our business strategy.

Job creation
Our employee base increased 
by two members of staff to 56 
at the end of the year against an 
establishment of 58 jobs. With 
our ongoing business process 
re-engineering philosophy, 
we have continually adapted 
to new ways of efficiently 
managing the Company to 
ensure that the business 
is sustainable. Our current 
model hence promotes use of 
contracted services as well as 
temporary workers for most of 
the tasks that require low skills. 
The combined headcount for 
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people working in the Company including contracted and temporary workers was 90 at the end 
of the year. The table below presents a summary of our job creation stand for the year in review in 
comparison to prior years; 

Employee Welfare
The welfare of our employees is key and we deliberate actions to improve it in line with market 
standards through offering them better packages which include a variety of remuneration benefits 
as indicated below:
 Contributory Pension Scheme (5% by employees on their basic pay and 15% company   
 contribution based on employees’ basic pay), which is one of the best schemes on the market  
 as many employers don’t contribute the 15% we offer to our staff;
 100% medical cover to all employees and 50% medical cover towards spouse and children (4  
 bona-fide dependents);
 Subsidized accommodation inclusive of water and electricity;
 Transport to and from work for all employees.
 Insurance
 3 months paid maternity leave
 1 month sick leave
 Study leave
 Up to 25 paid leave days for full time employees 

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Program
We continue our commitment to providing a safe 
and conducive work environment for employees 
and other stakeholders as guided by our Risk 
Policy. To achieve this, we have maintained and we 
continually improve our OHS Management System 
which is an integral part of our companywide 
Integrated Risk Management system. As discussed 
earlier in the report, we maintained our certification 
based on ISO 9001:2015 (Quality Management 
System Requirements), ISO 14001:2015 (Environment 
Management System Requirements) and we also 
successfully migrated and achieved certification 
on ISO 45001 (Occupational Health & Safety 
Management System Requirements). Additionally, 
the OHS management system is aligned with 
our local OHS regulations provided for in the 
Occupational Health and Safety Welfare Act (1997) 
under Ministry of Labour.                                                  

Employees
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OHS Management Approach
To continually improve and implement an effective OHS management system, we continue to provide 
leadership and required resources in the annual budgets which fall under the risk department. Firstly, 
our OSH management system adopts the conventional risk control hierarchy focusing on eliminating 
risks, reducing the risks and isolating the risks by improving processes and work stations. We also 
conducted awareness and training on OSH and skills development in line with the company’s annual 
training plan and provided all the necessary personal protective equipment (PPE) to employees. 
These activities are guided by routine task based and project risk assessments aimed at identifying 
risks, opportunities and appropriate improvement actions or strategies in all departments. 

Secondly, we have emergency management plans which enable us to prepare and effectively 
respond to emergencies that occur in our operations. These include availability of trained first 
aiders, trained firefighting teams, emergency alarms, serviced firefighting equipment and external 
emergency response in our community. We also continued implementation of our Business Continuity 
Management System which has been integrated into the risk management system.  

OHS Incidents
There were no major OHS incidents recorded in the year. The five minor incidents that were recorded 
were a 38% reduction in incidents’ occurrence which was better than the 11% that was achieved in 
2019. 

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d)
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Wellness Program
We are committed to continually supporting our employees in managing their health. Some of 
the interventions include conducting baseline medical examinations to new recruits and annual 
medical examinations to existing employees after which recommendations from examination reports 
are implemented as appropriate. As per our practice and risk policy, the specific annual medical 
examinations are conducted based on exposure levels to various hazards and risks for each employee. 
These examinations are done at a registered clinic and the costs are covered by the company as 
provided for in the company’s Conditions of Service. Additionally, we also continued offering Group 
Life Insurance to all our employees in compliance with local regulations.  The company continues to 
maintain an HIV and AIDS Policy which is fully supported and effectively implemented to ensure that 
HIV and AIDS is adequately managed in our operations. 

Even though the wellness program that the Company instituted in 2019 could not be fully entrenched 
due to COVID-19 restrictions, employees are encouraged to ensure that they have proper nutrition 
and they keep themselves fit to minimize the risk of lifestyle diseases. 

Employee Participation and Engagement Programs
We still live by our belief that employee engagement and participation in OHS Management is 
critical and we constantly engage our employees in various ways such as monthly meetings, 
business interactive sessions and weekly departmental idea system meetings. Outputs from these 
engagements feed into various business process as well as employee welfare improvements. In 
addition, better team building is achieved thereby resulting into increased productivity, reduced 
injuries and better efficiencies. 

Firefighting Team
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Training and Development
Training and awareness of workers (both full time and contractors) remain a critical component in 
our operations and we have always ensured that all employees are competent and skilled to perform 
their duties as required in a safe manner. As reported in our past reports, employees’ training needs 
are identified during annual performance assessment process using a Balanced Scorecard (BSC) 
system. The needs identified feed into the company’s training plan. This approach enables alignment 
of our strategic objectives and business KPIs to individual employee targets. This helps us to achieve 
our purpose of producing and selling high-quality ethanol and other products.  

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d) SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (Cont’d)

We continue our commitment to support and provide resources for training of employee in line 
with our policy which guides that the training budget be 7% of employee costs. Our training plan 
for the year consisted of 47 skills specific and 17 professional and leadership development training 
needs. Most of these training activities were not conducted due to COVID-19 pandemic resulting 
into a success rate of 43%. We have therefore planned to have more online training sessions in 2021 
in keeping with the new normal.

Product Quality and Responsibility 
As indicated in our business model earlier in the report, we have two categories of customers 
namely; those in liquor manufacturing business who buy food grade ethanol as raw material and 
customers (consumers) in the retail market for hand sanitiser and surface disinfectant. 

In order to manage risks associated with our products and in keeping with our zero appetite for 
reputational and compliance risks, we continue our focus on product responsibility to ensure 
compliance with applicable regulations, industry standards, customer requirements and that our 
products do not pose safety and health risks to the community, customers and consumers and 
that there are no negative environmental effects as a result of our internal processes. This is also 
achieved by our deeply rooted culture in our business operations where fit for purpose and efficient 
technologies are used and also availability of trained and experienced members of staff. In addition, 
we continued sensitising our customers, consumers and distributors on product handling and use 
through among other means provision of Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS), Certificates of Analysis 
(COA) and labeling of packaging materials. These initiatives have also helped us in preventing and 
combating abuse of our products. All in all, we are happy to report that there were no safety, health 
and environmental incidents reported from the market. 

Departmental Idea Meeting

Organisational Culture Training

Quality Control Laboratory
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We have ensured that process monitoring and results evaluation activities are effective so as to 
ensure that product quality and safety is not compromised. Thus, our state of the art monitoring 
equipment is properly maintained and calibrated in order to get accurate results. The equipment 
which includes High Performance Liquid Chromatograph (HPLC), Gas Chromatography (GC), Density 
Meters and others is verified by the Malawi Bureau of Standards and the equipment suppliers annually 
and as and when required. 

We have continued our role of advising our liquor customers to comply with liquor regulations which 
include not selling to underage imbibers. We scaled our efforts on enforcement of our marketing 
policy which dictates us to sell food grade ethanol to licensed liquor manufacturers only.

Economic Contributions
Our country continued facing various socio-economic challenges with the key issue being the 
emergence of the COVID-19 Pandemic as it affected businesses at both household and national 
levels. However, for EthCo, this unfavorable economic environment came with an increased demand 
of our food grade ethanol as a result of restrictions in various countries from which our customers 
were importing product. Secondly, the COVID-19 pandemic also offered us a huge opportunity to 
venture into production of hand sanitiser and surface disinfectant which contributed significantly to 
our revenue. 

With Responsibility as one of our core values, we commit to conduct our business in a manner that 
contributes towards sustainable development of the country through direct and indirect economic 
contributions that generate value to us and our stakeholders. We therefore deploy our capital 
(human and other resources) towards economic value generation in line with our Creating Shared 
Valued (CSV) policy and our strategy. 

Economic Value Generated and Distributed
Our economic value is generated through selling ethanol and other associated products as well as 
deposits of treasury. The performance of our business has been steadily growing over the years.
The generated value is distributed towards operating costs, employee (full time and contractors) 
welfare, capital investment, payments to government in taxes and community investment through 
our Creating Shared Value focus areas. The payments to government in taxes include VAT, Excise 
Duty, PAYE, Withholding Tax and Income Tax. 

  Reporting Year 2020 2019 2018 2017 
                 
                                                          Economic Value Generated

Direct Economic Value Generated  5,295,153.00 4,161,431.00 3,086,690.00 2,774,046.00
Other Operating Income  166,679.00 182,209.00 138,223.00 102,839.00
Income and Other Gains  290,930.00 207,110.00 194,127.00 309,534.00
Net Value Generated  5,753,062.00 4,550,750.00 3,419,040.00 3,186,419.00

                 Economic Value Generated

Operating Costs  1,714,074.00 1,919,313.00 2,406,739.00 1,518,870.00
Staff Wages and Benefits  1,208,247.00 1,293,830.00 973,402.00 928,524.00
Dividends Paid  793,000.00 0 427,000.00 388,000.00
Payments to Government (Taxes)  1,440,283.00 2,192,771.00 1,502,042.00 1,788,041.00
Community Investments (CSV Programs) 11,000.00 12,302.00 11,256.00 10,972.00
Net Value Distributed  5,166,604.00 5,418,216.00 5,320,439.00 4,634,227.00

Economic Value Retained  586,458.00 (867,466.00) (1,901,399.00) (1,447,808.00) 
  

Defined Contribution Plan
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is maintained by Inde-Trust/
NBM Pension and Death Benefits Fund.  The Trustees of the fund have a deposit administration 
contract with Inde-Trust Limited. During the year, total accrual for pension was MK97 million (2019: 
MK96 million). 

Creating Shared Value and our Corporate Social Responsibility Approach
With an understanding of our corporate role and commitment to pay back to the community, we 
continued with creating shared value through activities that focus on the social and economic value 
that both the Community and the Company create for one other. Our focus areas are environmental 
management, community health and safety, training and development and rural development. Our 
commitment in CSV programs is guided by a resource allocation policy dictates which allocation 1% 
of prior year’s profits towards annual budget for CSV strategy. 

As such, a budget of K16 million was provided for the 2020 financial year, of which K11 million was 
spent in various initiatives with more focus on health and safety in order to help in the fight against 
the spread of COVID-19 which was and is still a major public health risk. We also supported rural 
development by keeping our 56 employees in employment and paying all their well-deserved 
remuneration on time. Further to this, we employed contractors and casual labourers from within our 
community resulting into another expenditure of MK31.5 million. 

Donation to Schools in Nkhotakota District
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The directors have the pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial 
statements of Ethanol Company Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Ethanol Company Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Malawi under the Companies 
Act, 2013 of Malawi. The company primarily is engaged in the production and sale of ethanol and  
company is Press Corporation Limited, incorporated in Malawi. The company’s registered office is in 
Nkhotakota, P.O. Box 50 Dwangwa.

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
The company has authorised ordinary shares of 3,050,000 of K1 each and 2,750,000 ordinary shares 
issued and fully paid. The company has also 450,000 (10.5%-13.5%) cumulative preference shares of 
K 1 each. Details of these are shown in the statement of changes in equity on page ???.

 2020  2019
 K’000  K’000
Number of ordinary shares  2 750  2 750
Preference shares  450  450
 3 200   3 200

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income of the company are 
set out on pages 6 and 7, respectively. The company reports a profit after taxation of K2 237million 
(2019: K729 million).

DIVIDEND
The company declared and paid K793 million dividend in respect of 2019 results. Subsequent to the 
year end, as disclosed on note 27 to the financial statement, the Company proposed a dividend of 
K380 million in respect of 2020 financial results.

RESERVES
Details of the reserves of the company are shown in the statement of changes in equity on page ???.

DIRECTORS
The following directors, appointed in terms of the Articles of Association of the company, served
office during the year:

Mr J. Biziwick Chairman  -  January to July 2020
Ms E. Mafeni Chairperson  -  Effective August 2020
Mr W. Mabulekesi Member  -  Full year
Mr L. Mandala Member  -  Full year
Mr L. Katandula Member  -  Up to May 2020
Mr B.W Jere Member  -  Full year
Mr G. Kambale Member  -  Full year
Mr. J. Ngolombe Member  -  Effective June 2020
Ms L . Chakaniza Executive director  -  Full year
Mr T. Chavura Company Secretary  -  Full year

HOLDING COMPANY
The holding company of Ethanol Company Limited is Press Corporation Limited, a company 
incorporated in Malawi and listed on Malawi Stock exchange.

GOING CONCERN
In accordance with their responsibilities, the directors considered the appropriateness of the going 
concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements. The company recorded a profit after 
taxation of K2 237 million (2019: profit of K729 million) for the year ended 31 December 2020 and, as 
at that date, it had current liabilities of K2 737 million (2019: K1 768 million) against current assets of K5 
213 million (2019: K5 890 million) and total equity of K7 907 million (2019: K6 463 million). The directors 
determined that the financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis.

Bankers and other financial institutions:
Standard Bank plc;
National Bank of Malawi plc;
NBS Bank plc;
First Discount House;
Old Mutual Investment Group Limited;
Continental Asset Management Limited;
CDH Investment Bank Limited;
NBM Capital Markets Limited; and
Nico Asset Managers Limited.

Attorneys:
Savjani & Co,
Ground Floor, Hannover House,
Hannover Avenue,
P.O. Box 2790,
Blantyre.

Independent auditors:
Deloitte,
Deloitte House,
P.O. Box 30364,
Lilongwe 3.

AUDITOR
The auditors, Deloitte, have signified their willingness to continue in office and a resolution is to be 
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to reappoint Deloitte as auditors in respect of 
the 31 December 2021 financial statements.

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Director:  _____________________________ Director: _______________________________

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial 
Ethanol Company Limited, comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, 
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Malawi Companies Act.

The Companies Act, requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period, 
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial 
period and of the operating results for that period.

The Act also requires the directors to ensure that the company keeps proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Malawi Companies Act.

In preparing the financial statements the directors accept responsibility for the following:

−  Maintenance of proper accounting records;
−  Selection of suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently;
−  Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
−  Compliance with applicable accounting standards when preparing financial statements; and
−  Preparation of financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Company will continue in business in the foreseeable future.

The directors also accept responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Company and to maintain adequate systems of internal controls to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state 
of the financial affairs of the Company of its operating results and cash flows for the year ended 31 
December 2020.

Director:    

Director:   

 
26th February 2021Date:   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ethanol Company Limited as set out on
pages 45 to 89 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Ethanol
Company Limited as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Malawi Companies Act.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Malawi. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and IESBA code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
directors’ report and Statement of directors’ responsibilities, as required by the Companies Act, 
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The other information does not include  
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
For the year ended 31 December 2019

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control;

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control;

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern; and

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
Kondwani Msimuko
Partner
…………….. 2021

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

  31.12.2020  31.12.2019
 Notes  K’000  K’000

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment  5  5 524 984  2 786 693
Intangible assets  6  40 691  44 194
Long-term receivables  8  11 004  19 703
Total non-current assets   5 576 679  2 850 590
 
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories  7  883 552  1 243 303
Trade and other receivables  8  1 169 243  1 645 492
Amounts due from related parties  20  -  162
Cash and cash equivalents  9  3 160 220  3 001 961

Total current assets   5 213 015  5 890 918

TOTAL ASSETS   10 789 694  8 741 508

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital   2 750  2 750
Preference shares   450  450
Revaluation reserv e  10  519 279  586 880
Retained earnings   7 384 248  5 873 295

Total equity   7 906 727  6 463 375

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities  19  146 129  510 107

Total non-current liabilities   146 129  510 107

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables  11  1 583 537  1 312 069
Provisions  12  196 209  134 455
Deferred income   218 602  -
Tax Payable  19  722 246  319 911
Amounts due to related parties  20  16 244  1 591

Total current liabilities   2 736 838  1 768 026

Total liabilities   2 882 967  2 278 583

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   10 789 694  8 741 508

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th 
February 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR: ______________________                                          DIRECTOR: ________________________
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020

  2020  2019
 Notes  K’000  K’000

Revenue   10 168 460  8 134 418
Cost of sales   (4 873 307)  (3 972 987)

Gross profit   5 295 153  4 161 431

Other operating income  14  166 979  182 209
Distribution costs  15  (45 668)  (138 399)
Administrative expenses  16  (2 199 627)  (2 570 649)
Other operating expenses  17  (722 694)  (654 796)

Profit before interest and taxation   2 494 143  979 796

Net finance income  18  290 930  206 423

Profit before income taxation   2 785 073  1 186 219
Income tax expenses  19  (548 299)  (457 375)

Profit for the year   2 236 774  728 844

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not reclassified to profit or loss
Deferred tax movement revaluation movement   -  2 764

Total other comprehensive income   -  2 764

Total comprehensive income for the year   2 236 774  731 608

 Share Preference Revaluation Retained
 Capital  shares  reserve  earnings  Total
 K’000  K’000  K’000  K’000  K’000

Year ended 31 December 2020
Balance as at 1 January  2 750  450  586 880  5 873 295  6 463 375
Profit for the year  -  -  -  2 236 774  2 236 774
Dividend paid  -  -  -  (793 422)  (793 422)
Excess depreciation on revaluation
surplus changes  -  -  (67 601)  67 601  -

Balance as at 31 December 2020  2 750  450  519 279  7 384 248  7 906 727

Year ended 31 December 2019

Balance as at 1 January  2 750  450  642 218  5 086 349  5 731 317
Profit for the year  -  -  -  728 844  728 844
Other comprehensive income  -  -  2 764  -  2 764
Depreciation on revaluation 
surplus changes  -  -  (58 102)  58 102  -

Balance as at 31 December 2019  2 750  450  586 880  5 873 295  6 463 375

The retained earnings also known as distributable reserve is available for distribution to shareholders 
as dividends. The property revaluation reserve relate to unrealised capital profits (net of related 
deferred tax) on valuation of properties, and are not available for distribution in terms of the 
Companies Act.

 2020  2019
 K’000  K’000
Analysis of share capital
Authorized:
3 050 000 ordinary shares of K1 each 3 050 3 050

450 000 10.5%-13.5% cumulative participating preference shares of K 1 each  450  450
 3 500  3 500

Issued and fully paid:
2 750 000 ordinary shares of K1 each  2 750  2 750

450 000 10.5%-13.5% cumulative participating preference shares of K 1 each  450  450
 3 200  3 200

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

  2020 2019
 Notes K’000               K’000  

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax   2 785 073  1 186 219
Adjustments for:
Net finance income  18  (270 312)  (223 058)
Depreciation  5  253 053  272 080
Amortization  6  3 503  3 501
Loss / (profit) on sale of property plant and equipment   3 385  (2 696)

Operating profit before changes in working capital   2 774 702  1 236 046

Change in long-term receivables   8 699  2 386
Change in trade and other receivables   476 249  (537 002)
Change in amounts due from related parties   162  298
Change in inventories   359 751  58 945
Change in amounts due to related parties  14  653  973
Change in amounts attributable to deferred income   218 602  -
Change in trade and other payables/provisions   333 222  545 781

Cash generated from operating activities   4 186 040  1 307 427

Interest paid  18  (2 600)  (687)
Taxation paid  19  (509 942)  (317 900)

Net cash flow generated by operating activities   3 673 498  988 840

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received  18  272 912  223 745
Additional property plant and equipment  5  (3 001 639)  (382 810)
Proceeds from disposal of assets   6 910  46 447

Net cash used in investing activities   (2 721 817)  (112 618)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid   (793 422)  -

Net cash used in financing activities   (793 422)  -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalent   158 259  876 222

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year   3 001 961  2 125 739

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   3 160 220  3 001 961

1.  General information

 Ethanol Company Limited is a private limited company incorporated in Malawi under the 
Companies Act 2013 of Malawi. The address of the company’s registered office is P.O Box 
50 Dwangwa primarily is engaged in the production and sale of ethanol and associated 
products. The holding company is Press Corporation Limited, incorporated in Malawi. The 
ultimate parent company is Press Trust, a Trust registered in Malawi.

2.  Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

2.1  Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial 
statements In the current year, the Company has adopted those new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the International Accounting 
Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on 1 January 2020.

 The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a significant 
impact on the financial statements of the Company.

2.2  Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective
 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, and have not been applied in preparing 
these financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Company are set out below. 
The Company does not plan to adopt these standards early.

Effective date Standard, Amendment or Interpretation

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023

Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current 
The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the presentation of liabilities as 
current or noncurrent in the statement of financial position and not the 
amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, 
or the information disclosed about those items. The amendments clarify 
that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on 
rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify 
that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an 
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain that 
rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the 
reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear 
that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity 
instruments, other assets or services.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Effective date Standard, Amendment or Interpretation

Annual
reporting
periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020

The Annual Improvements include amendments to four Standards. IFRS 
1 Firsttime Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards The 
amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary which becomes 
a first-time adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting for 
cumulative translation differences. As a result of the amendment, a 
subsidiary that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16 (a) can now also elect 
to measure cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations at 
the carrying amount that would be included in the parent’s consolidated 
financial statements, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS 
Standards, if no adjustments were made for consolidation procedures 
and for the effects of the business combination in which the parent 
acquired the subsidiary. A similar election is available to an associate or 
joint venture that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16 (a).

Annual
reporting
periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ test to assess 
whether to derecognise a financial liability, an entity includes only fees 
paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, 
including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the 
other’s behalf. The amendment is applied prospectively to modifications 
and exchanges that occur on or after the date the entity first applies the 
amendment.

3.  Significant accounting policies

 Statement of compliance
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
that were relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 
January 2020. These financial statements have also been prepared in the manner required by 
the Malawi Companies Act, 2013.

 Basis of preparation
 Financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for trade and 

other receivables which is measured at amortised cost and property plant and equipment 
which is measured on a revalued amount basis on each reporting.

(a)  Functional and presentation currency
 The financial statements are presented in Malawi Kwacha which is the company’s functional 

currency. All financial information presented in Malawi Kwacha have been rounded to the 
nearest thousand.

(b)  Going concern
 The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as directors have made 

assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have a reasonable 
expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date Standard, Amendment or Interpretation

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or
after 1 January 
2022

Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds 
before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, 
plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced before 
that asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Consequently, an entity recognises 
such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss. The entity 
measures the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories. 
The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is 
functioning properly’.
IAS 16 now specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical 
performance of the asset is such that it is capable of being used in the 
production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for 
administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, 
the financial statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost 
included in profit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an 
output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.
The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of 
property, plant and equipment that are brought to the location and 
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management on or after the beginning of the earliest period 
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the 
amendments.

The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying 
the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning 
of that earliest period presented.

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2022

Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises 
the ‘costs thatcrelate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to 
a contract consist of both thecincremental costs of fulfilling that contract 
(examples would be direct labour or materials)cand an allocation of other 
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example wouldcbe the 
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and 
equipmentcused in fulfilling the contract). The amendments apply to 
contracts for which the entity hascnot yet fulfilled all its obligations at 
the beginning of the annual reporting period in whichcthe entity first 
applies the amendments.
Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognise the 
cumulative effectcof initially applying the amendments as an adjustment 
to the opening balance ofcretained earnings or other component of 
equity, as appropriate, at the date of initialcapplication

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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 (c)  Use of estimates and judgments
 The preparation of financial statements which are in conformity with IFRS requires management 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and  
critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements include the following notes:
•  Note 3.2 Assessment of useful lives and residual values;
•  Note 3.5 Impairment of assets; and
•  Note 22.0 Determination of fair values.

 The principal accounting policies of the company, which are set out below, have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements:

3.1  Revenue
 Revenue arises mainly from the sale of ethanol and associated products. To determine whether 

to recognise revenue, the Company follows a 5-step process:
1  Identifying the contract with a customer;
2  Identifying the performance obligations;
3  Determining the transaction price;
4  Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and
5  Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

 Revenue is recognised either at a point in time when the Company satisfies performance 
obligations by transferring the promised goods to its customers. The Company recognises 
contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations 
and reports these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, 
if the Company satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the 
Company recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial 
position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before 
the consideration is due.

 Revenue from the sale of ethanol and associated products for a fixed price is recognised when 
as the Company transfers control of the assets to the customer. Invoices for goods transferred 
are due upon receipt by the customer.

 Interest income
 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 

at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

3.  Significant accounting policies (Continued)
 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2  Property, plant and equipment

 Initial recognition
 Property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses. Subsequently, land and buildings are stated at valuation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are carried out by independent qualified valuers and the basis of valuation used 
is open market value.

 Property plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis at annual rates that 
will reduce book values to estimated residual value over the anticipated useful lives of the 
assets.

 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The 
cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour plus any other 
cost directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use.

 Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of reporting 
period.

 Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case 
the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. 
A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings 
is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the 
properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

i)  Subsequent costs
 The expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is accounted for separately including the major inspections and overhaul costs. 
The subsequent expenditure on property, plant and equipment is capitalized only when the 
expenditure improves the condition of the asset resulting in increased future economies 
benefits. All other expenditures are expensed in the profit or loss as they are incurred.

ii)  Depreciation
 No depreciation is provided on freehold land. Noncurrent assets are depreciated on a 

straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to reduce them to their anticipated residual value 
over their expected useful lives as follows:

 Leasehold buildings and civil works  20 years
 Plant and machinery  5-20 years
 Motor vehicles  4 years
 Furniture  5-10 years

 In the year of acquisition depreciation is charged from the month an asset was brought into 
use. Capital work in progress is not depreciated.

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted if appropriate.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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 Depreciation on revalued assets is initially charged in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Excess depreciation arises on the revalued portion of the property held at valuation. An 
amount equal to this excess depreciation is transferred annually from the property revaluation 
reserve to the distributable reserves as a reserve movement.

 International Accounting Standard 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment requires that an entity should assess the estimated 

remaining useful life and residual value of its assets at least at the end of each reporting 
period, the company complied as at 31 December 2020.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

3.3  Intangible assets
 Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful life of 
20 years. Costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to future 
period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised 
to software. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. The subsequent expenditure on intangible asset is 
capitalized only when the expenditure results in increased future economies benefits from the 
asset. All other expenditures are expensed in the profit or loss as they are incurred.

3.4  Inventories and work in progress
 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a weighted average 

basis. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost included an 
appropriate share of production based on normal operating capacity. Net realizable value is 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost of completion 
and selling expenses.

3.5  Impairment of non-financial assets
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible 

and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets 
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified.

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
be impaired.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or-cash-generating unit) is estimated to less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating units) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revaluation amount in which case the impairment is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses the carrying amount of the asset (or 
cashgenerating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

3.6  Taxation
 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 Current tax
 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 

‘profit before tax’ as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The company’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation 
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductable temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

 Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from goodwill 
or from initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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 Deferred tax (Continued)
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax for the year
 Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 

that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the 
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity respectively.

3.7  Functional currency translation

 Functional and presentation currency
 Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using Malawi Kwacha, 

the functional currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. 
The financial statements are presented in Malawi Kwacha, which is the entity’s functional and 
presentation currency.

 Transactions and balances
 Transactions in currencies other than Malawi Kwacha are initially recorded at the rates of 

exchange ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

 Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

3.8  Financial instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s statement of financial 

position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added 
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition.

 Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Financial assets
 All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a 

trade date basis.

 Financial assets (Continued)
 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 

of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised 
cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

 Classification of financial assets
 Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised 

cost:
•  the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

•  the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL).

 Despite the foregoing, the Company may make the following irrevocable election/designation 
at initial recognition of a financial asset:
•  the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an 

equity investment in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (see (iii) 
below); and

•  The Company may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised 
cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch (see (IV) below).

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method
•  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 

instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.
•  For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets 

(i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees 
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, 
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

•  For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including 
expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial 
recognition.

•  The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is 
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial 
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for 
any loss allowance.
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 Financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

•  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments 
measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated 
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, 
except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).

•  For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

•  For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the entity recognises 
interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the 
gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so that 
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

•  Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “finance income - 
interest income” line item.

(ii)  Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI
•  The corporate bonds held by the entity are classified as at FVTOCI. The corporate bonds 

are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in the 
carrying amount of these corporate bonds as a result of foreign exchange gains and 
losses, impairment gains or losses, and interest income calculated using the effective 
interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The amounts that are recognised in 
profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would have been recognised in profit or 
loss if these corporate bonds had been measured at amortised cost. All other changes in 
the carrying amount of these corporate bonds are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. When 
these corporate bonds are derecognised, the Cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
 On initial recognition, the Entity may make an irrevocable election (on an 

instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. 
Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is 
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.

A financial asset is held for trading if:
•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
•  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 

Company manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking; or

• It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a 
designated and effective hedging instrument).

 Financial assets (Continued)
(iii)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (Continued)

 Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is not be reclassified to profit or 
loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained earnings. 

 Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in 
accordance with IFRS 9, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment.

(iv)  Financial assets at FVTPL
 Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI 

(see (i) to (iii) above) are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:
•  Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Company 

designates statement that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration 
arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition (see (iii) above).

•  Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria 
(see (i) and (ii) above) are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that 
meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as 
at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces 
a measurement or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that 
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on 
them on different bases.

 Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with 
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a 
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

 Foreign exchange gains and losses
 The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency 

is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each 
reporting period. Specifically;
•  for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated 

hedging relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other 
gains and losses’ line item;

•  for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship, exchange differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument 
are recognised in profit or loss. Other exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve;

•  for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains 
and losses’ line item; and

•  For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in 
other comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve.
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 Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued) 

Impairment of financial assets
•  The entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in 

debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, 
trade receivables and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The 
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

•  The entity always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and 
lease receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated 
using a provision matrix based on the Entity’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

•  For all other financial instruments, the Entity recognises lifetime ECL when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit 
risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL.

•  Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL 
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on 
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
 In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since 

initial recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Company considers both 
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 
effort.

 Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in 
which the Company’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial 
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well 
as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that 
relate to the entity’s core operations. In particular, the following information is taken into 
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:
•  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 

available) or internal credit rating;
•  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular 

financial instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 
swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of 
a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

•  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations;

•  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
•  significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;
•  an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

 Financial assets (Continued)
 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 

 (i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
 Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Company presumes that the 

credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 60 days past due, unless the Company has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. Despite the foregoing, the Entity 
assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
1)  The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
2)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the 

near term, and 

 Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

 The entity considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external 
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if 
an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing 
means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

 For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the entity becomes a party to the irrevocable 
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing 
the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant 
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the entity 
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

 The entity monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria 
are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past 
due.

(ii)  Definition of default
 The entity considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk 

management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either 
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:
•  when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or
•  Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the 

debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Company, in full (without taking into 
account any collateral held by the Company).

 Irrespective of the above analysis, the Company considers that default has occurred when a 
financial asset is more than 120 days past due unless the Entity has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets
 A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 

on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:
(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);
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 Financial assets (Continued)
 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) 
(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 

borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d)  it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy
 The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor 

is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

 Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries 
made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
 The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss 

given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward-looking information as described above.

 As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross 
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure 
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional 
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on 
historical trend, the Company’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the 
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

 For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Entity in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the expected credit losses is 
consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with IAS 
17 Leases.

 For a financial guarantee contract, as the entity is required to make payments only in the event 
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, 
the expected loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit 
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the entity expects to receive from the holder, the 
debtor or any other party.

 If the entity has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
 lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date 

that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Entity measures the loss allowance 
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which 
simplified approach was used.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)
 The entity recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
 with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, 

except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss 
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the 
statement of financial position.

 Derecognition of financial assets
 The entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another administration. If the Company neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Entity retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the entity continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.

 In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument 
which the Entity has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to 
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

 Financial liabilities and equity

 Classification as debt or equity
 Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of a 
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation 
of the Company’s own equity instruments.

 Financial liabilities
 All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method or at FVTPL.

 However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for 
derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee 
contracts issued by the Company, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting 
policies set out below.
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 (v)  Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)
 Financial liabilities (Continued)
 
 Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent 

consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or
•  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 

Company manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; 
or

•  it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a 
designated and effective hedging instrument.

 Financial liabilities at FVTPL
 A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of 

an acquirer in a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition 
if:
•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 

inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or
•  the financial liability forms part of an Company of financial assets or financial liabilities 

or both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with the Company’s documented risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the funding is provided internally on that basis; or

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 
permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

 Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a 
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates 
any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line 
item in profit or loss.

 However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in 
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that 
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects 
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the 
fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a 
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings 
upon derecognition of the financial liability.

 Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company that are designated 
by the Company as at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 
combination, (ii) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 (v)  Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)
 Financial liabilities (Continued) 

 Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities
 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments 

to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments 
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently 
at the higher of:
•  the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see financial 

assets above); and
•  the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation 

recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policies set out above.

 Foreign exchange gains and losses
 For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at 

amortised cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are 
determined based on the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss for financial 
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

 The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial 
liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the 
fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
 The entity derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations 

are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss.
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 When the entity exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one 
with the substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment 
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the 
Company accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it 
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of 
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and 
discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted 
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the modification 
is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before 
the modification; and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification should be 
recognised in profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses. 

3.9  Research and development
 No intangible asset arising from research is recognised. Expenditure on research is 

recognised as an expense when it is incurred. An intangible asset arising from development 
is only recognised if and only if the following can be demonstrated: the technical feasibility 
of completing the intangible asset so that it can be available for use or sale; intention to 
complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; the availability of 
adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the intangible asset; the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 
intangible asset during its development.

3.10  Employee service benefits

i)  Long term benefits
 Employees are members of the defined contributory pension scheme. Employer’s contributions 

are charged to the profit or loss when they are due in respect of services rendered before the 
end of the reporting period. The company pension scheme is defined contribution managed 
by Inde Trust Limited.

ii)  Short term benefits
 Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided. An accrual is recognized for the amount expected 
to be paid under shortterm cash bonus if the company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be measured reliably.

3.11  Share capital

 Preference share capital
 Preference share capital is classified as a financial liability as it is redeemable at the option of 

the shareholders. Dividends

 Dividends on preference shares are recognized as a liability and expressed on an accrual 
basis to profit or loss as interest expense. Other dividends are recognized as a liability in the 
period in which they are declared. Proposed ordinary dividends during the year form part of 
shareholders equity.

 Earnings per share
 Earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit/ (loss) after taxation and preference 

dividend by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

3.12  Trade and other receivables
 Trade and other receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment losses. Refer for to policy number 3.8 “financial instruments” 
for initial recognition, subsequent measurement and impairment of financial assets which 
includes trade and other receivables.

3.13  Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of a past event, it is probable that the company will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

3.14  Revaluation reserve
 Surplus on the revaluation of assets is transferred to a non-distributable revaluation reserve. 

Depreciation on revalued property, plant and equipment is charged to profit or loss. On 
the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributed revaluable surplus 
remaining in the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to the surplus/ deficit 
reserve.

3.15  Investment in Associate
 The company uses equity method of accounting for investments in Associates. Under this 

method of accounting, equity investment is initially recorded at cost and is subsequently 
adjusted to reflect the Company’s share of the net profit or loss of the Associate. Distributions 
received from the investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments 
to the carrying amount may also be required arising from changes in the investee’s other 
comprehensive income that have not been included in profit or loss.

3.16  Cash and cash equivalents
 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on 

hand, bank deposits and balances with banks.

4.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.1  Critical accounting judgements made by management
 In the process of applying the company’s accounting policies, management has made 

the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that affect the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements and related disclosure.
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4.1.1  Impairment of non current assets
 In making its judgement, management has assessed at each reporting date whether there is 

an indication that items of property, plant and equipment and other assets may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is assessed in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

4.1.2  Business model assessment
 The company determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial 

assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment 
includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the 
assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of 
the assets and how these are managed.

 The company monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income prior to their maturity. Monitoring is part of the company’s continuous 
assessment of whether the business model for which the financial assets are held continues 
to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in business 
model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. No such changes 
were required during the periods presented.

4.2  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.2.1  Impairment of trade and other receivables
 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are presented based on expected credit 

losses. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current 
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of 
money where appropriate. Refer to note 8 to the financial statements.

4.2.2  Useful lives and residual value of property, plant and equipment
 The company reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of plant and equipment 

at the end of each reporting period. These estimates are subjective by nature as they require 
assessment of financial and non-financial information in arriving at the residual values and 
useful lives which can only be borne out by future events.

4.2.3  Provision for obsolete stock
 In arriving at the provision for obsolete stock, management has considered the movement, 

the condition and likelihood of the stock being used by the entity or sold to a customer. 
Provisioning on this basis can be subjective by nature as it requires the assessment of financial 
as well as non-financial information in arriving at an impairment value which can only be borne 
out by future events.

4.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
4.1  Critical accounting judgements made by management (Continued)
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5. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 5. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

 A register of land and buildings giving details required under the Companies Act 2013, 
Schedule 3, and Section 16 is maintained at the registered office of the company and is open 
for inspection by members or their duly authorized agents.

 Fair value measurement of the company’s land and buildings
 Leasehold properties, civil works, were re-valued on 31 December 2017 by Messrs Knight Frank 

- Malawi Limited, on an Open Market Value (OMV). Under the method used, the re-valued cost 
is treated as the new gross amount and accumulated depreciation is restated 

 The revaluation was performed on a present day fair value basis, “depreciated replacement 
cost”, which for buildings represents the cost of complete reinstatement, depreciated for age 
and present condition having regard to the unexpired portion of the lease where appropriate.

 Details of the company’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as 
at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

                                             Fair value            Fair value
  Level 1  Level 2  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000  K’000  K’000
 Land  -  265 379  265 379  265 379
 Buildings  -  868 826  868 826  896 205
 
 Buildings  -  1 134 205  1 134 205  1 161 584

 Details of the company’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as 
at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

                                                                                            Fair value                                 Fair value
  Level 1  Level 2  2019  2018
  K’000  K’000  K’000  K’000
 Land  -  265 379  265 379  265 379
 Buildings  -  896 205  896 205  970 895
 
 Buildings  -  1 161 584  1 161 584  1 236 274

 There were no transfers between levels during the year.

 The cost of land and buildings for the company is as below

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
 Land  89 380  89 380
 Building  552 592  476 462

  641 972  565 842
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8.  Trade and other receivables (Continued)

 Movement in expected credit losses
  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
 
 Balance at the beginning of the year  713 473  493 652
 Net expected credit losses recognized (note 17)  312 129  219 821
 Balance at the end of the year  1 025 602  713 473

            1 to 31 to 61 to 91 to >120
         Gross carrying amount 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days days Total
  K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000
 
 Trade and other receivables  48 792  99 649  58 131  (120 272)  18 669  104 969
 Carbon dioxide and Allied 
 Products  13 363  11 000  10 781  12 582  683 893  731 619
 Salima Sugar Company  -  -  -  -  121 311  121 311
 Staff Houses laons  606  (355)  (846)  (51)  16 258  15 612
 Kabadwa Cane growers  4 306  2 099  2 099  2 073  163 654  174 231
 Total  67 067  112 393  70 165  (105 668)  1 003785  1 147 742
 
 Expected credit   1 to  31 to  61 to  91 to  >120
 loss rate   30 days  60 days  90 days  120 days  days

 Trade and other receivables   0.00%  2.41%  0.01%  0.00%  6.00%
 Carbon dioxide and Allied Products   100.00%  100.00%  100.00%  100.00%  100.00%
 Salima Sugar Company   0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%  90.00%
 Staff Houses laons   4.00%  8.00%  12.00%  17.00%  42.00%
 Kabadwa Cane Growers   100.00%  100.00%  100.00%  100.00%  100.00%
 

            1 to   31 to 61 to 91 to >120
          Expected credit losses (ECL) 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days  days Totals
  K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000

 Trade and other receivables  1 603  2 159  1 781  155  12 170  17 868
 Carbon dioxide and Allied 
 Products  13 752  13 997  13 741  21 855  540 309  603 654
 Salima Sugar Company  -  -  -  -  75 078  75 078
 Staff Houses laons  -  -  -  -  4 488  4 488
 Kabadwa Cane growers 12 385  -  -  -  -  12 385
 Total  27 740  16 156  15 522  22 010  632 045  713 473

 The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 days. No interest is charged on outstanding 
trade receivables. Interest of 6% is charged on long term outstanding staff receivables. 

 The Company measures the loss allowance for trade receivables by applying the simplified 
approach which is prescribed by IFRS 9. In accordance with this approach, the Company 
always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000 

6.  Intangible assets
  
 Cost
 As at 1 January  147 532  147 532
 As at 31 December  147 532  147 532
 
 Amortization
 As at 1 January  103 338  99 837
 Charge for the year  3 503  3 501
 As at 31 December  106 841  103 338
 
 Carrying amounts
 As at 31 December  40 691  44 194
 
 Intangible assets relates to computer software and is carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and impairment losses.

7.  Inventories
 Finished products  634 272  5 63 606
 Work in progress  50 564  10 335
 Raw materials/consumables  32 377  528 136
 Spares  178 306  145 761
 Provision for obsolete inventories  (11 967)  ( 4 5 33)
  883 552  1 243 305

8.  Trade and other receivables

a). Short-term -within 12 months
 Trade receivables  116 355  870 357
 Other receivables  1 020 383  849 611
 Total receivables  1 136 738  1 719 968
 Expected credit losses  (1 025 602)  (713 473)
 Net carrying amount  111 136  1 006 495
 Input VAT recoverable  827 417  -
 Other prepayments  230 690  638 997
  1 169 243  1 645 492

b).  Long-term staff loans - receivable after 12 months  11 004  19 703
 Total Trade and other receivables  1 180 247  1 665 195

 The repayment period for the long-term staff loans ranges from 2 to 10 years at 6% interest 
per annum.  The Company pays Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT) on the difference between the bank 
base rate and the staff interest rate. A total FBT of MK3.3 million relating to staff loans was paid 
in the year. The carrying amount of receivables of K1.2 billion (2019: K1.7 billion) is a reasonable 
approximation of their fair values.
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8. Trade and other receivables (Continued) 11.  Trade and other payables (Continued)

 The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by 
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current 
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the 
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Company has 
recognised a loss allowance of 100 per cent against all receivables over 180 days past due that 
are known because historical experience has indicated that these receivables are generally 
not recoverable. There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant 
assumptions made during the current reporting period.

 The Company writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, such as, 
when the trade receivables are over two years past due. None of the trade receivables that 
have been written off is subject to enforcement activities. The table above details the risk 
profile of trade receivables based on the Company’s provision matrix. As the Company’s 
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different 
customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further 
distinguished between the Company’s different customer segments.

9.  Cash and cash equivalents
  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

 Cash and bank balance  1 146 570  234 044
 Fixed Deposits  2 013 650  2 767 917
 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  3 160 220  3 001 961

 The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalent of K 3 160 million (2019: K3 002 million) is a 
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Interest rates on fixed deposits were on average 
12% (14% in 2019).

10.  Revaluation reserve
  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

 Balance as at the beginning of the year  586 880  642 218
 Excess depreciation on revaluation  (96 573)  (58 102)
 Deferred tax on revaluation surplus  28 972  2 764
 Balance as at the end of the year  519 279  586 880

11.  Trade and other payables
  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

 Trade payables  572 383  970 229
 Other payables and accruals  1 011 154  341 840
  1 583 537  1 312 069

 Trade payables are represented by amounts payable both to local and foreign suppliers.

 The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. The company has 
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the 
credit time frame.

 The other payables comprise accrued expense, PAYE, excise duty, Tevet levies and payables 
clearing account balances.

 No interest is charged on the payables.

 The carrying amount of payables of K1 584 million (2018: K1 312 million) is a reasonable 
approximation of their fair values.

12.  Provisions
  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

 Provisions raised during the year  45 663  54 557
 Bonus provisions  150 546  79 898
 Balance at the end of the year  196 209  134 455

 Provisions mainly include provision for security expenses, bonuses, withholding tax deducted 
from suppliers, and provision for audit fees.

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
 Bonus provisions
 Balance at the beginning of the year  79 898  -
 Bonus paid during the year  (73 533)  -
 Provisions raised during the year (note 16)  144 181  79 898
  150 546  79 898

13.  Pension fund

 The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is maintained by NBM 
PAL Unrestricted Pension and Death Benefits Fund. The Trustees of the fund have affected 
a deposit administration contract with NBM PAL Unrestricted Pension Fund . The charge to 
profit or loss is K 97 million (2019: K122 million).
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14.  Other operating income

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

 Profit on disposal of plant property and equipment  -  2 696
 Sundry income  166 979  179 513

  166 979  182 209

15.  Distribution cost

 Carriage outwards  18 822  52 026
 Selling expenses  27 093  74 369
 Ethanol loss in transit  ( 247)  12 004
  
  45 668  138 399

16.  Administrative expenses

 Staff costs  733 630  697 646
 Depreciation  253 053  272 080
 Repairs and maintenance  249 525  158 799
 Motor vehicle staff allowances  187 576  209 652
 Bonus  144 181  79 898
 Management fees  131 436  71 156
 Other administration expenses  111 132  121 157
 Pension contributions  97 413  96 229
 Training expenses  50 073  60 181
 Security costs  48 381  41 312
 Education Allowance  45 447  -
 Communication  31 155  25 792
 Group life assurance  25 742  28 234
 Auditors’ remuneration  24 836  23 421
 Stationery and office expenses  19 499  17 197
 Directors emoluments:    - fees  15 038  14 200
                                          - expenses  11 737  15 427
 Motor vehicle expenses  14 283  21 702
 Amortisation  3 503  3 501
 Legal and professional fees  1 987  16 849
 Severance pay  -  596 184
 Fines and Penalties  -  32
 
  2 199 627  2 570 649

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

17.  Other operating expenses

 Bad debts provision  312 129  219 821
 Safety Health and Environment  77 843  76 031
 Electricity and water  75 166  103 972
 Computer expenses  65 244  26 249
 Fringe benefit tax  48 564  67 312
 Insurance  42 240  46 097
 Fuel  31 180  34 939
 Advertising  30 861  11 502
 Research and development  7 845  41 148
 Provision for obsolete inventories  7 434  -
 Travel & Subsistence  7 312  13 913
 Protective clothing  6 768  7 104
 Donations  6 723  6 708
 Loss on disposal of assets  3 385  -
  722 694  654 796

18.  Net finance income

 Finance income  272 912  223 745
 Exchange gains  20 618  (16 635)
 Finance costs  (2 600)  (687)
 Net finance income  290 930  206 423

19.  Taxation

 Corporate income tax at 30% (2019 - 30%)  912 277  497 129
 Under provision of income tax  -  36 783
 Deferred tax movement  (363 978)  (76 537)
 Total income tax expense in the profit or loss  548 299  457 375
 
 Deferred tax liability
 Balance as at 1 January  510 107  589 408
 Accelerated capital allowance
 Movement during the year  (363 978)  (76 537)
 Deferred tax on revaluation  -  (2 764)
 Balance as at 31 December  146 129  510 107
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19.  Taxation (Continued) 20. Related parties

 Deferred tax assets movement for the year ended 31 December 2020
  
   Recognized Recognized in Balance as at
  Balance as at in  profit Other 31 December
  1 January 2020 or loss comprehensive 2020
 
 Property plant and equipment  125 045  (59 885)  -  65 160
 Provisions 214 893  (297 908)  -  (83 015)
 Unrealized Exchange
 differences 170 169 (6 185)  - 163 984
 Total  510 107  (363 978)  -  146 129

 Deferred tax assets movement for the year ended 31 December 2019

   Recognized Recognized in Balance as at
  Balance as at in  profit Other 31 December
  1 January 2019 or loss comprehensive 2019

 Property plant and 
 equipment  204 346  (76 537)  (2 764)  125 045
 Provisions  214 893  -  -  214 893
 Unrealized Exchange
 differences 170 169  -  - 170 169
 Total  589 408  (76 537)  (2 764)  510 107

   2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
 Income tax liability
 Balance as at 1 January  319 911  103 901
 Tax paid during the year  (417 844)  (317 900)
 WHT paid during the year  (92 098)  -
 Under provision from prior year  -  36 781
 Current year income tax  912 277  497 129
  722 246  319 911

 Reconciliation of tax expense with accounting income:
 Profit before tax  2 785 058  1 186 219

 Income tax using the corporate tax rate  835 521  355 866
 Excess depreciation  76 966  82 674
 Non-deductible expenses  195 451  113 252
 Deductible expenses  (195 661)  (54 663)
  912 277  497 129

 Related parties of Ethanol Company Limited include Press Corporation Limited (PCL) which 
has the controlling interest in Ethanol Company, PUMA Energy in which PCL owns 50%, Malawi 
Telecommunications Limited in which PCL acquired a controlling interest from February 2007, 
Peoples Trading Centre (PTC) in which PCL has a 100% equity stake, Illovo Sugar - Dwangwa 
Estate which owns 7.63% shares in Ethanol Company Limited and NBM PAL unrestricted 
Pension which owns 25.82% of equity in Ethanol.

 Ethanol company Limited holds 30% equity stake in Carbon Dioxide and Allied Products (Pty) 
Limited which has since been provided for as the company continues to make losses.

 Senior officers of the company who are also related parties include the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors E Mafeni, W.Mabulekesi, L Mandala, L. Katandula, B. W. Jere, Gabriel Kambale and 
Jeromy Ngolombe.

 Ethanol Company transacted with PUMA Energy which is joint ventures of PCL; and Castel 
Malawi which is an associate of PCL and also transacted with Malawi Telecommunication Ltd, 
PTC and TNM which are subsidiaries of PCL.

 The company’s pension scheme is the NBM PAL unrestricted Pension and Death Benefits 
Fund. The Trustees of the fund have affected a deposit administration contract with NBM PAL 
unrestricted Pension . A total of K 97 million (2019: K122 million) has been charged to profit or 
loss being employers’ contribution towards the fund.

 A total of MK15.0 million (2019: MK14.2 million) was paid as directors’ fee during the year.

 The Company’s holding Company is Press Corporation Limited, a Company listed on the 
Malawi Stock Exchange. The following are the related parties of the company:

 The company also paid dividend of K793 million (2019: nil) during the year.

 For the year ended 31 December 2020           Type of relationship
 Press Corporation plc  Ultimate parent company
 NBM PAL unrestricted Pension  Co-shareholder
 Carbon Dioxide and Allied Products (Pty) Limited  Associate of the Company
 Telekom Networks Malawi plc  Common parent company
 National Bank of Malawi plc  Common parent company
 The Foods Company Limited  Common parent company
 Malawi Telecommunications Limited  Common parent company
 Open Connect Limited  Associate of the parent
 Press Properties Limited  Common parent company
 Prescane Company Limited  Common parent company
 Peoples Trading Centre Limited  Common parent company
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20.  Related parties (Continued)

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
 Amount due from related parties
 Press Cane Company Limited  -  162
  -  162
 Amount due to related parties
 TNM  517  -
 Press Corporation Limited  -  1 571
 MTL  1 665  -
 Puma Energy  14 062  -
 Indetrust Pensions and Benefits Fund  -  20
  16 244  1 591
 These transactions are at arms-length.

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000

 The following transactions were carried out at arms’ length 
 with related parties:

(i)  Sales
 Puma Energy Malawi Limited - Sales   -  284 755
 ▪ Volumes  -  227
 
 Castel Malawi Limited - Sales (Amount)  516 850  404 884
 Volumes  534  456

(ii) Pension
 NBM PAL Pension  99 548  96 229

(iii)  Other purchases
 Dwangwa Sugar Corporation  2 643 496  2 805 640

(iv)  Purchases
 Press Corporation group companies:
 Telekom Network Malawi  3 427  12 854
 Peoples Trading Centre Limited  -  2 834
 Press Corporation plc  131 436  71 156
 Malawi Telecommunications Limited  24 677  20 779

 Total purchases from related parties  159 540  107 623

(v)  Compensation of key management personnel
 Directors fees  15 038  14 200

 Directors allowances  10 780  9 006
 
 Executive management remunerations  241 536  247 708

21.  Risk management
21.1  Financial risk management

 The company has exposure to the following risks arising from its transactions in financial 
instruments:
a)  Market risk;
b)  Credit risk; and
c)  Liquidity risk.

 This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 
company’s objectives, policies and processes for identification, measurement, monitoring 
and controlling risk, and the company’s management of capital. Details of the significant 
accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each 
class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3 to the 
financial statements.

 The company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s financial 
performance.

 Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the board 
of directors. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as 
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
and investment of excess liquidity.

 Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 

rates and equity prices will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

i)  Foreign currency risk
 The company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are 

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the company. The currencies 
in which these transactions primarily are denominated are Euro, USD, GBP and ZAR. In respect 
of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the company 
ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign 
currencies at spot rates when necessary to address short-term imbalances.

 At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the financial assets denominated in foreign currencies were:

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
 Cash and cash equivalents
 United States Dollar  976 469  84
 A 10% depreciation or appreciation of the Malawi Kwacha will lead
 to a Profit Before Tax reduction or increase by:  97 646  6
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21.  Risk management (Continued)
21.1  Financial risk management (Continued)

21.  Risk management (Continued)
21.2  Credit risk (Continued)

 The Company had no financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 December 
2020 (2019:nil).

ii)  Price risk
 As the company had no significant publicly-traded equity and commodity securities, the 

Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in 
market security prices.

iii)  Interest rate risk
 As the Company has some interest-bearing borrowings, the Company’s income and operating 

cash flows are substantially affected by changes in market interest rates.

 The Company is exposed to interest rate risk as it has some short term investments on the 
money market with maturities ranging from 30 to 90 days. The risk is managed by maintaining 
an appropriate mix of maturities with business operations and reviews are done on regular 
basis while observing the market.

 The company’s interest rate risk arises from its investment in treasury bills. Treasury bills 
purchased at fixed rates expose the company to fair value interest rate risk.

 The directors on a continuous basis review compliance with policies and exposure limits. As 
at the reporting date, there were no derivative financial instruments.

 Since there is no active market for debt securities, it is not possible to disclose the sensitivity 
of the fair value of the treasury bills to fluctuations in the market yield of debt securities.

21.2  Credit risk
 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a 

financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the 
company’s receivables from customers and short-term deposits.

 Credit risk for the company arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks 
and financial institutions and receivables. Below are the financial assets that are exposed to 
credit risk:

 The company’s exposure and the credit profile of its counterparties are continuously 
monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved 
counterparties. Credit exposure is monitored and controlled by the board of directors on a 
continuing basis.

 The credit risk on liquid funds is also limited because the counterparties are banks with sound 
integrity and robust financial statements

  Note  2020  2019
   K’000  K’000
 Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)  8  1 136 738  1 719 968
 Cash and cash equivalents  9  3 160 220  3 001 961
 Total exposure   4 296 958  4 721 929

i) Trade and other receivables
 The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 

each customer. The Company’s credit customer base, including the default risk based on the 
business experience, has less of an influence on credit risk. Therefore, there is no concentration 
of credit risk. The company has a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed 
individually for creditworthiness before the company’s standard payment and delivery terms 
and conditions are offered. The company’s review includes external ratings, when available, 
and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, 
which represents the maximum open amount without requiring approval from management; 
these limits are reviewed annually. Customers that fail to meet the company’s benchmark 
creditworthiness transact with the company only on a prepayment cash basis.

 More than 95 percent of the company’s customers have been transacting with the company for 
over 20 years, and losses have occurred infrequently.

 In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit 
characteristics, including whether they are an individual or legal entity, whether they are a 
wholesale, retail or enduser customer, geographic location, industry, aging profile, maturity 
and existence of previous financial difficulties. Trade and other receivables relate mainly to the 
company’s credit customers.

 Customers that are graded as “high risk” are placed on a restricted customer list, and future 
sales are made on a prepayment cash basis. The company does not require collateral in respect 
of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component 
established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not 
yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment 
statistics for similar financial assets.

ii)  Staff receivables
 Staff receivables are recordable through payroll deductions and, on termination from terminal 

benefits.

iii)  Short-term deposits
 The company limits its exposure to credit risk by depositing its excess cash only with reputable 

established commercial banks and discount houses accredited by the Reserve Bank of Malawi. 

 Considering their high credit ratings and Reserve Bank of Malawi close monitoring of these 
financial institutions, management does not expect any institution to fail to meet its obligations.

iv)  Guarantees
 The company’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to its permanent employees. As 

at 31 December 2020, there were no staff loan balance guaranteed by the company (2019: 
Zero).

 None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been renegotiated in the last year.
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 Capital risk management
 The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for 
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to the shareholder, or sell assets to reduce 
debt.

 Operational risk
 This is the risk of loss arising from operations of the Company. Losses can occur due to 

the system or factory malfunctioning or failure to follow the procedures. Operational risk 
manifests itself through losses as a results of/ customer complaints and claims. To reduce the 
risk, management continuously reviews the controls and procedures in place. The company 
employs quality controller, safety health and environmental officer in addition to Press 
Corporation Group internal auditors who periodically determine and checks the effectiveness 
of the controls in place.

 
 Disaster recovery arrangements are also in place so that business can continue should 

major disruptions occur. At least twice every year, the external auditors review the company 
operations with a view to assessing risks and controls.

21.3  Categories of financial instruments
  Amortised  Carrying
  cost  amount  Fair value
  K’000  K’000  K’000
 2020
 Assets
 Trade and other receivable  1 136 738  1 136 738  1 136 738
 Cash and cash equivalents  3 160 220  3 160 220  3 160 220
 
 Total financial assets  4 296 958  4 296 958  4 296 958
 
 Financial liabilities
 Trade and other payables  1 583 537  1 583 537  1 583 538
 Deferred income 218 602 218 602 218 602
 Amounts payable to related companies  16 244  16 244  16 244
 
 Total financial liabilities  1 818 383  1 818 383  1 818 383

 For the year ended 31 December 2019

 2019
 Assets
 Amounts receivable from related companies  162  162  162
 Trade and other receivable  1 006 495  1 006 495  1 006 495
 Cash and cash equivalents  3 001 961  3 001 961  3 001 961
 
 Total financial assets  4 008 618  4 008 618  4 008 618
 
 Financial liabilities
 Trade and other payables  1 312 062  1 312 062  1 312 062
 Amounts payable to related companies  1 591  1 591  1 591
 
 Total financial liabilities  1 313 653  1 313 653  1 313 653

 Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 

they fall due. The company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have liquid assets to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
company’s reputation.

 The company uses activity-based costing to cost its products and services, which assists it in 
monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return on investments.

 The company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses for a period of 90 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes 
the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as 
natural disasters.

 The table below analyses assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at 31 December 2020 to the contractual maturity date.

2020 Totals

K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000

0–30 
days 

30–60 
days 

60–90 
days 

Above 90 
days

Assets

Trade and other receivables 67 067 112 393 70 165 898 117 1 147 742

Fixed deposit accounts - - - 2 013 650 2 013 650 

Cash and Bank Balances 1 146 570 - - - 1 146 570

Total 1 213 637 112 393 70 165 2 911 767 4 307 962

Liabilities

Trade payables - 572 383 - - 572 383

Related party payables 16 244 - - - 16 244

Other payables and accruals 1 011 154 - - - 1 011 154

Total 1 027 398 772 383 - - 1 599 718

Gap 186 239 (459 990) 70 165 2 911 767 2 708 181

Cumulative Gap 186 239 (273 751) (203 586) 1 733 842 2 708 181
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21. Risk management  (Continued)
21.3  Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

22. Fair values of financial instruments (Continued)

 Liquidity risk (Continued)
 The table below analyses assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 

remaining period at 31 December 2019 to the contractual maturity date.

2019 Totals

K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000 K’000

0–30 
days 

30–60 
days 

60–90 
days 

Above 90 
days

Assets

Trade and other receivables 803 162 112 071 108 155 716 283 1 739 671
Related party receivables 162  - - - 162
Fixed deposit accounts - - - 2 767 917  2 767 917
Cash and Bank Balances  234 044 - - - 234 044
Total 1 037 368 112 071 108 155 3 484 200 4 741 794

Liabilities

Trade payables - 970 229 - - 970 229
Related party payables 1 591 - - - 1 591
Other payables and accruals 341 840 - - - 341 840
Total 343 431 970 229 - - 1 313 660
Gap 693 937 (858 158) 108 155 3 484 200 3 428 134
Cumulative Gap 693 937 (164 221) (56 066) 3 428 134 3 428 134

22.  Fair values of financial instruments

 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are 
based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, 
the company determines fair values using other valuation techniques.

 For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair 
value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, 
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the 
specific instrument.

 Valuation models
 The company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
•  Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

instruments.
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category 
includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs 
are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

 

 Valuation models (Continued)
•  Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for 

which the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category 
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.

 The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects 
the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

 The company uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair value of 
common and more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps that 
use only observable market data and require little management judgment and estimation. 
Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and 
equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such 
as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the 
need for management judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated 
with determining fair values.

 Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and 
markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the 
financial markets.

 If the company measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of net 
exposures to market risks, then it applies judgment in determining appropriate portfolio-level 
adjustments such as bid-ask spreads. Such adjustments are derived from observable bid-ask 
spreads for similar instruments and adjusted for factors specific to the portfolio. Similarly, 
when the company measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis 
of net exposure to the credit risk of a particular counterparty, then it takes into account any 
existing arrangements that mitigate the credit risk exposure (e.g. master netting agreements 
with the counterparty)

23.  Contingent liabilities

 The company is defending a court actions by the former General Manager and Chief Finance 
Officer of Ethanol Company Limited who are suing for damages for alleged unfair dismissal. 
The combined quantum indicated by the applicants is MK2 billion. However the legal counsel 
assessed that even if the applicants succeed it is unlikely that the damages would be that 
high. The case was brought for action to the Industrial Court and a Judgement was delivered 
in favour of the Company and Press Corporation Limited. The applicant has since appealed. 
The Court has since heard the appeal by former CFO. The Appeal by former GM is yet to be 
heard. The company also expects a contingent liability of MK50 million being estimated legal 
costs up to final judgement of the two cases.

  2020  2019
  K’000  K’000
24.  Capital commitments

 Committed and contracted  2 057  553 804
 Committed but not contracted  108 000  150 000
  110 057  703 804
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25.  Inflation and exchange rates

 The average of the year-end buying and selling rates of the major foreign currencies affecting 
the performance of the company are as stated below, together with the National Consumers 
Price Index which represents an official measure of inflation.

  K  K
 United States Dollar (US$)  766  732.75
 Euro (€)  987  826.91
 South African Rand (ZAR)  56  52.81
 
 Inflation rate  7.6%  9.7%

 As at 25 March 2021, the exchange and inflation rates were as follows:

 United States Dollar (US$)   785.69
 Euro (€)   997.55
 South African Rand (ZAR)   59.8
 
 Inflation rate % (January 2021)   7.7%

26.  Impact of Covid-19

 During the year, there was an outbreak of Corona Virus disease in China. This, however, 
became widespread in a number of countries thereafter and it was declared a pandemic by 
World Health Organisation (WHO) in March 2020.

 This coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic is affecting economic and financial 
markets, and virtually all industries are facing challenges associated with the economic 
conditions resulting from efforts to address it.

 Ethanol Company Limited in a response to the pandemic, they set up a responsible team in 
the Company to ensure preparedness and implement safety measures to contain the spread 
of the COVID-19. Staff are being provided with relevant information and tools to help ensure 
safety as they carry out their day to day duties.

 Both internal and external physical large meetings have been stopped with virtual meetings 
being made instead. The Company has also been following social distancing and masking up 
when there is a need to in closed meetings.

 Further to that, most of the staff at Ethanol as at 31 December 2020 have been working from 
home with few working on shift basis especially the operational staff who cannot work from 
home but to run the plant while on the ground.

 Economically the country has been affected by the pandemic due to slow down of operations. 
However for the Energy sector particularly manufacturing of Alcohol Ethanol this has been 
a bonus to the company as most local companies as well foreign companies were buying 
Alcohol Ethanol from Ethanol Company Limited.

 Further to that, the pandemic did not disrupt the operations of the company but rather 
increased the work load of the Company and that the Company introduced another product 
“Hand sanitizer’ from the Alcohol Ethanol thereby increasing the company’s revenue base.

27.  Subsequent events

 Subsequent to the year end in January 2021, the company proposed a dividend of K 380 
million in respect of 2020 financial results.

28.  Comparatives

 Where necessary comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in the 
current year presentation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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GRI Content Index

GRI Standard  Disclosure
Page number(s) 
and/or direct 
answers

Omission

GRI 101: Foundation 2016

General Disclosures

Organizational profile
102-1 Name of the organization 7
102-2 Activities, brands, product, services 
and Rebranding 8,9

102-3 Location of headquarters 7
102-4 Location of operations 7
102-5 Ownership and legal form 7
102-6 Markets served 7
102-7 Scale of the organization 7,8,11,28
102-8 Information on employees and other 
workers 28,29

102-9 Supply chain 19,20,21,22,23
102-10 Significant changes to the 
organization and its supply chain 26,28

102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach 10
102-12 External initiatives 6
102-13 Membership of associations 8

GRI 102: General 
Disclosures 2016 Strategy

102-14 Statement from CEO and Board Chairman 10,11,12
102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 18,19,20,21,22,23
Ethics and integrity
102-16 Values, principles, standards, and 
norms of behavior 4

102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns 
about ethics 15

Governance
102-18 Governance structure 14,15
102-19 Delegating authority 14,17
102-20 Executive-level responsibility for 
economic, environmental, and social topics 17

102-21 Consulting stakeholders on 
economic, environmental, and social topics 17

102-22 Composition of the highest 
governance body and its committees 14

102-23 Chair of the highest governance 
body 14

102-24 Nominating and selecting the highest 
governance body 14

102-25 Conflicts of interest 14
102-29 Identifying and managing economic, 
environmental, and social impacts 14

ANNEXES
For the year ended 31 December 2020

GRI 102: General 
Disclosures 2016

102-30 Effectiveness of risk management 

processes
12

102-31 Review of economic, environmental, 

and social topics
14

102-32 Highest governance body’s role in 

sustainability reporting
17

102-33 Communicating critical concerns 16,18
102-35 Remuneration policies 14
102-36 Process for determining 

remuneration
14

Stakeholder engagement
102-40 List of stakeholder groups 17
102-41 Collective bargaining agreements 22
102-42 Identifying and selecting 

stakeholders
17

102-43 Approach to stakeholder 

engagement
17

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 17
Reporting practice
102-45 Entities included in the consolidated 

financial statements
36,37

102-46 Defining report content and topic 

Boundaries
14,15

102-47 List of material topics 17
102-48 Restatements of information 5

102-49 Changes in reporting

We have 
added 
“Rebranding” 
on 102-2.

102-50 Reporting period 5
102-51 Date of most recent report 31 Dec. 20219
102-52 Reporting cycle 5
102-53 Contact point for questions 
regarding the report 6

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance 
with the GRI Standards 5

102-55 GRI content index 90-92
102-56 External assurance 5

ANNEXES
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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GRI Standard Disclosure Page number(s) 
and/or URL(s) Omission

Material Topics

200 series (Economic topics)

Economic Performance
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 17,18

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 10,16,18

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 18

GRI 201: Economic 
Performance 2016

201-1 Direct economic value generated and 
distributed 34

Indirect Economic 
Impacts
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 17,18

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 10,16,18

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach     17,18

GRI 203: Indirect 
Economic Impacts 2016

203-1 Infrastructure investments and services 
supported 35

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts 34,35

Anti-corruption
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 17,18

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 19

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 17,18
GRI 205: Anti-corruption 
2016

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related 
to corruption 19

205-2 Communication and training about 
anti-corruption policies and procedures 19

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and 
actions taken 19

300 series 
(Environmental topics)
Materials
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 17,18

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 19-25

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 17,18

GRI 301: Materials 2016 301-1 Materials used by weight or volume 21-27

ANNEXES
For the year ended 31 December 2020

301-3 Reclaimed products and their 
packaging materials 23

Energy
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 17,18

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 26,27

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 26,27

GRI 302: Energy 2016 302-1 Energy consumption within the 
organization 26,27

302-2 Energy consumption outside of the 
organization 26

Water and Effluents

GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 24

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 24-25

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 24-25

GRI 303: Water and 
Effluents 2018

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared 
resource 24

303-2 Management of water discharge-
related impacts 25

303-3 Water withdrawal 24

303-4 Water discharge 25

303-5 Water consumption 25

Environmental 
Compliance
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 21

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 28,29

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 28,29

GRI 307: Environmental 
Compliance 2016

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations 21-27

400 series (Social 
topics)
Employment
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 28

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 28,29

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 28,29

GRI 401: Employment 
2016

401-1 New employee hires and employee 
turnover 28

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time 
employees that are not provided to 
temporary or part-time employees

29

401-3 Parental leave 29

ANNEXES
For the year ended 31 December 2020



|  Annual Integrated Report 2020 ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED (EthCo) ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED (EthCo) Annual Integrated Report 2020  |92 93

Occupational Health 
and Safety
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 29

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 29,30

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 29,30

GRI 403: Occupational 
Health and Safety 2018

403-1 Occupational health and safety 
management system 29

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, 
and incident investigation 30-31

403-3 Occupational health services 30
403-4 Worker participation, consultation, 
and communication on occupational health 
and safety

30,31

403-5 Worker training on occupational health 
and safety 30

403-6 Promotion of worker health 30,31
403-7 Prevention and mitigation of 
occupational health and safety impacts 
directly linked by business relationships

30,31

403-8 Workers covered by an occupational 
health and safety management system 29

403-9 Work-related injuries 30,31

403-10 Work-related ill health 30,31

Training and Education
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 32

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 32,33

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 32,33

GRI 404: Training and 
Education 2016

404-1 Average hours of training per year per 
employee
404-2 Programs for upgrading employee 
skills and transition assistance programs 32,33

404-3 Percentage of employees 
receiving regular performance and career 
development reviews

33

Customer Health and 
Safety
GRI 103: Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary 23

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 19-23
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103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 19-23
GRI 416: Customer 
Health and Safety 2016

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety 
impacts of product and service categories 20

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance 
concerning the health and safety impacts of 
products and services

20

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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